
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Licensing Committee 
 

Date:  Monday, 30 January 2023 

Time:  10.30 am 

Venue:  Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, CB2 
3QJ 

Contact:   democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 
A Member’s Licensing & Enforcement verbal update will begin at 
9:30am in the Council Chamber.  
 
Members are asked to attend the briefing and meeting in person. 
 

1    Apologies  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Minutes (Pages 3 - 10) 

4    Public Questions  

5    Annual Review of Licensing Fees and Charges 
2023-24 (Pages 11 - 38) 

6    To Review the Livery Policy of Hackney Carriage 
Vehicles (Pages 39 - 46) 

7    Limiting the Number of Hackney Carriage Licences (Pages 47 - 
146) 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Licensing Committee Members: McPherson (Chair), Bird (Vice-Chair), 
Bennett, Carling, Divkovic, Gilderdale, Page-Croft, Robertson, Scutt and 
Levien 

Alternates: Hauk and Davey 
 

Information for the public 
The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public.  
 
For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

 Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

 Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

 Phone: 01223 457000 
 
This Meeting will be live streamed to the Council’s YouTube page. You can 
watch proceedings on the livestream or attend the meeting in person. 
 
Those wishing to address the meeting will be able to do so virtually via 
Microsoft Teams, or by attending to speak in person. You must contact 
Democratic Services democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk by 12 noon two 
working days before the meeting. 

 

http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

1 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 24 October 2022 
 10.00  - 11.50 am 
 
Present:  Councillors McPherson (Chair), Bird (Vice-Chair), Bennett, Carling, 
Divkovic, Gilderdale, Page-Croft, Scutt and Levien 
 
Officers 
Environmental Health Manager: Yvonne O'Donnell 
Legal Adviser: Paul Weller 
Committee Manager: James Goddard 
Producer: Chris Connor 
 
Others Present from Cambridge City Licensed Taxis 
Afzal Aslam (Member) 
Eddie Holland (Member) 
Ahmed Karaahmed (Chairman) 
Kamil Winek (Member) 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

22/22/Lic Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Robertson. 

22/23/Lic Declarations of Interest 
 

Name Item Interest 

Councillor Bennett 22/26/Lic Personal: Regular Panther Taxi 
user. 

22/24/Lic Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2022 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 

22/25/Lic Public Questions 
 
Members of the public asked a number of questions, as set out below. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

2 

1. Afzal Aslam raised the following points: 
i. CCTV usage was intrusive and subject to the law. 
ii. A key impact was its impact on privacy. 
iii. The City Council needed to consider legislation when implementing 

CCTV. 
a. The Information Commissioner had addressed this issue in a 

recent blog regarding continuous recording and it should be 
proportionate to the issues it sought to address. 

b. The Information Commissioner had challenged some councils over 
their use of CCTV. 

iv. The City Council needed a data controller to process driver and 
passenger data. 

v. What was the crime rate in Cambridge (that CCTV sought to address)? 
 
2. Eddie Holland raised the following points: 

i. Expressed concern that the cost of installing CCTV was put on private 
individuals. 

ii. The policy was being implemented when taxi drivers were under financial 
pressure. 

iii. Drivers had to install CCTV but had no ‘title’ to it ie they could not 
own/access it. CCTV should be their property if they paid for it. Or the 
City Council could pay for CCTV and retain ‘title’ for it. 

 
3. Ahmed Karaahmed raised the following points: 

i. The taxi trade was recovering from the covid lockdown period when 
profits were low or nil.  

ii. It was a difficult time to run a business due to the rising cost of living and 
(taxi) operating costs. 

iii. Implementing CCTV was another expense. 
iv. Queried if CCTV was needed as crime rates were low in Cambridge. 
v. Re-iterated Eddie Holland’s concern that taxi drivers had to install CCTV 

but had no ‘title’ to it. 
 
4. Kamil Winek raised the following points: 

i. CCTV was a good solution to improve safety. 
ii. The Committee needed to be aware of the bigger picture from the Taxi 

Forum: 
a. They were losing drivers at present - particularly drivers who 

serviced disabled clients. It was cheaper to become a private hire 
driver for the general public. 

b. Imposing higher operating costs would exacerbate the situation. 

Page 4



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

3 

c. Higher implementation/operating costs meant the situation could 
not continue as it was. 

iii. Was aware the City Council had talked to other local authorities about 
CCTV implementation. 
 
The Environmental Health Manager responded to all speakers: 

i. The City Council had contacted the Information Commissioner. Its CCTV 

Policy would not breach any of the Commissioner’s policies. 

ii. The City Council and the Police would be data controllers. CCTV would 

not be interfered with unless needed as evidence. 

iii. Once a taxi became a licensed vehicle it could only ever be a licensed 

vehicle; legislation and policy would always remain. 

iv. Regarding operating costs: Licensing Officers had to balance the needs 

of taxi drivers and the travelling public. 

 
5. Afzal Aslam raised the following points: 

i. The City Council should help to fund CCTV implementation. 
ii. Advised that if the City Council decided to implement its policy to install 

CCTV in taxis, the Taxi Trade would seek legal advice on how to 
challenge this. 

iii. Drivers did not feel engaged in the CCTV implementation process or 
supported by the City Council on how to install CCTV. 
 

6. Eddie Holland raised the following points: 
i. CCTV was a good idea. 
ii. Drivers were concerned about implementation costs and the lack of 

financial support from the City Council. 
 

The Environmental Health Manager responded: 
i. Crime rates for Cambridge City were set out in Appendix A of the 

Officer’s report. 

ii. CCTV was always an agenda item for the Taxi Forum and discussed at 

each meeting – so the trade was engaged. 

22/26/Lic CCTV in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 
 
The Committee received a report from the Environmental Health Manager. 
 
Under the powers conferred to Cambridge City Council under the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

Page 5



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

4 

1976, (as amended), Cambridge City Council has responsibility for licensing 
Hackney Carriage, Private Hire and Dual Licence Drivers as well as vehicle 
proprietors and Private Hire Operators within the City.  
 
The mandatory installation of CCTV within Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
vehicles was agreed by members in October 2017. 
 
Members of the Licensing Committee in September 2020 agreed an 
implementation date of 1 April 2022 whereby all taxi and private hire vehicles 
would have CCTV installed. 
 
Due to delays in the identification of an approved supplier and the Covid 19 
pandemic, the 1 April 2022 implementation date was not met. 
 
The Committee made the following comments in response to the report: 

i. Queried if the Council could offer financial support to taxi drivers to install 
CCTV. Either through grant or loan schemes. 

ii. Mobility scooter users needed larger vehicles to transport them and their 
scooters. 

iii. Noted that bigger vehicles required more cameras so would have higher 
installation costs. 

iv. Councillor Scutt undertook to contact Central Government to see if there 
was a safety policy for taxi drivers and financial assistance available to 
install CCTV. 

v. There was a higher safety risk to customers if no taxis were available 
(driven out of market through high operating costs) compared to having 
no CCTV. 

 
In response to Members’ questions the Legal Advisor said the following: 

i. Protection of the public and taxi drivers was a council priority as a 
licensing authority. 

ii. The City Council would respond to any specific details if the public 
speakers did start legal action. It was impossible to speculate details 
before receipt of anything. 

 
In response to Members’ questions the Environmental Health Manager said 
the following: 

i. Table 2a in the Officer’s report listed incidents where “taxi driver” was 
stated as occupation. This was terminology from the Police (who 
supplied information) regardless of whether incidents occurred when taxi 
driving or not (ie driver off duty) and regardless of whether the ‘taxi 
driver’ was a victim or offender.  

Page 6



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

5 

ii. The City Council would normally be notified by the Police if a taxi driver 
committed an offence. Table 1 in the Officer’s report listed incidents 
where people had reported complaints about taxi drivers. 

iii. CCTV installation costs listed in the Officer’s report were accurate up to 
September 2022. 

iv. The Council would have to allocate funding out of the general budget if it 
wanted to offer financial support for taxi drivers to install CCTV. Budget 
allocation requests would have to go through the normal budget process. 

v. Would have to discuss the idea of the City Council operating a loan 
scheme with the Finance Team to see if it was viable if Councillors 
wanted to implement one. 

vi. The Licensing Committee agreed to install CCTV in taxis in principle in 
2017. Discussion on ‘how’ to do so had been delayed since then. The 
decision had come back to committee in 2020 and 2022. CCTV 
installation costs had been discussed before but officers had not been 
asked to revise them. Nor to look at alternative sources for financial 
support for drivers before this meeting. 

vii. Officers could look at sources of financial assistance from Central 
Government, Police & Crime Commissioner etc, but thought it unlikely 
there would be any. 

viii. Councillors were invited to discuss CCTV policy at regular Taxi Trade 
Forums. 

ix. The City Council was trying to implement CCTV in line with South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. It was up to Councillors if they wished to 
implement the policy or not, possibly in a phased way, plus set the 
timeframe to do so. 

x. The City Council would set out specifications but taxi drivers could go to 
any provider for the kit, either as an individual or part of a group to get 
economies of scale. 

xi. Some CCTV installation companies offered zero percent finance options. 
xii. CCTV specifications and sourcing were reviewed by South 

Cambridgeshire District Council and City Council Legal and Procurement 
Teams. 

xiii. South Cambridgeshire District Council had not offered financial support 
to taxi drivers to install CCTV. 

xiv. Public Health money had been allocated in covid to install screens. 
xv. CCTV sound recording could be turned off by taxi drivers but footage 

was always recorded. It would only be looked at by a data controller if 
they needed to review the footage around a specific time/incident. 

xvi. CCTV footage was helpful evidence in licence revocations procedures.  
 

Page 7



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

6 

Afzal Aslam was invited (on behalf of all public speakers) to address the 
Committee again by the Chair after hearing Members’ discussion. He raised 
the following points: 

i. Agreed that CCTV was good for driver and passenger safety. 
ii. Taxi drivers paid a yearly licence fee. 
iii. Disagreed that drivers should pay to install CCTV in taxis. Queried if the 

City Council could do so by not charging other fees eg for taxi plates. 
iv. Disagreed with the need for continuous CCTV recording. Drivers should 

be able to access footage for information purposes so they could pass it 
onto insurance companies if required. 

 
The Environmental Health Manager responded: 

i. The legislation required the licensing fee process to be not for profit, so 
it was run as a self-funding operation by the City Council. 

ii. Re-iterated that if the City Council wanted to offer any financial 
assistance it would have to be applied for and allocated out of the 
general budget. 

iii. Re-iterated Officers would only look at reported incident footage. Access 
would be restricted to data controllers. 
 
Councillor Bennett added that under the General Data Protection 
Regulation people could request information about themselves from the 
data controller. Rights were set out in legislation. Drivers did not need 
access to CCTV, they could request incident footage from data 
controllers. 

 
Councillor McPherson proposed an amendment to the Officer’s 
recommendation to include a new recommendation 2.3: 
 

Officers to look at possibilities for financial support options to assist 
CCTV implementation. Officers to advise progress by the next committee 
expected January 2023. Action to be completed within six months and 
reported to committee in March 2023. 

 
This amendment was carried unanimously. 
 
The Committee:  
 
Resolved (by 8 votes to 0 with 1 abstention) to approve: 

i. The implementation of CCTV in licensed vehicles in a phased and 
manageable approach. Any grant of a new vehicle licence or renewal of 
an existing licensed vehicle from 1st April 2023, vehicle must be fitted 

Page 8



Licensing Committee  Monday, 24 October 2022 

 

 
 
 

7 

with CCTV. This would see all licenced vehicles installed with CCTV by 
31st March 2024.  

ii. A review of CCTV in licenced vehicles every 5 years. Next review would 
be 2029, 5 years from date all licenced vehicles will have CCTV 
installed. 

iii. Officers to look at possibilities for financial support options to assist 
CCTV implementation. Officers to advise progress by the next committee 
expected January 2023. Action to be completed within six months and 
reported to committee in March 2023. 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.50 am 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 2023/2024 

To:  
Licensing Committee     30/01/2023 

Report by:  

Yvonne O'Donnell , Environmental Health Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457951  Email: yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

 
 
 
 

1) Introduction / Executive Summary 

1.1 Cambridge City Council, as the Licensing Authority, is responsible 

for processing and issuing licences for a wide range of activities.  

1.2 The Council needs to demonstrate that the fees it charges for such 

licences have been set in accordance with the law and best practice, 

so as to recover its allowable costs in administering the various 

licensing regimes for which it is responsible. 

1.3 Fees should be set so as to avoid either a surplus or a subsidy 

where possible and adjusted, if necessary, in succeeding years to 

achieve and maintain the correct balance. 

1.4 The calculation of the taxi and private hire fees and charges 

2023/24, considered specific officer role and their time involved in 

the issuing and processing of applications, in addition to the 

administration and monitoring of compliance with conditions.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



1.5 The costs involved in carrying out all the processes and the true 

costs of running a taxi service, have been calculated and these are 

the fees that went out for consultation as attached in Appendix A 

1.6 The costs were also compared to the existing fees as attached as 

Appendix D and this has shown that there has been a significant 

increase in some costs since they were last reviewed in 2020.  

1.7 Following feedback from the consultation and discussion with the 

Chair of Licensing, it was felt that it would be unreasonable at this 

time to make such a large increase on some of the fees and 

therefore in consultation with Chair of Licensing the fees for some of 

the processes have been amended as attached in Appendix E 

1.8 This report sets out the revised fees and charges for licences and 

associated items, which it is proposed should be made with effect 

from 1st April 2023. The approved charges will be submitted to Full 

Council to note on 23rd February 2023. 

2) Recommendations 

2.1 Members are recommended to approve the level of the fees and 

charges with effect from 1st April 2023, as set out in Appendix E. 

2.2 Members are to request officers to communicate changes with 

members of the public, businesses and taxi trade.  

 

3) Background 

3.1 Cambridge City Council is required to review any charges which it 

makes for licences and other associated items, from time to time.  

Council policy provides that an annual review of these fees and 

charges will be undertaken. 

3.2 The Council must seek to recover the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with conditions. The fees charged should 

be capable of withstanding legal challenge, should the need arise. 

Page 12



3.3 It is not permitted to make a surplus, nor to subsidise, licence 

holders, and so where necessary fees are adjusted in succeeding 

years to achieve and maintain the correct balance. 

3.4 The cost to the Council of this work is regularly checked and real time 

costs are used in compiling the figures.  Where it is possible to 

reduce costs by use of more efficient working this is reflected in the 

charges made. 

4) Fees for Animal Welfare Licensing 

4.1 The fees for the majority of Animal Welfare Licensing were adopted 

by Licensing Committee on 1st October 2018, following on from the 

Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) 

Regulations 2018 taking effect on 1st October 2018. These fees have 

increased in line with inflation.  

4.2 In contrast the fees for both zoos and dangerous wild animals have 

not changed regime and have increased by 9.4%, in line with the rate 

of inflation. 

5) Fees for Skin Piercing Registrations and Sex Establishment 

Licensing 

5.1 Fees for skin piercing practices and sex establishments have 

increased following review of associated costs in processing. 

6) Fees for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing 

   

6.1 Section 53 and 70 of the Local Government (Misc Provisions) Act 

1976 (“Act”) allows the council to change and levy costs for the grant 

of licences in respect of hackney carriage and private hire drivers, 

vehicles and operators. 

6.2 Section 53(2) of the Act states, in relation to drivers’ licences for 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicles: 

“Notwithstanding the provisions of the Act of 1847, a district council 

may demand and recover for the grant to any person of a licence to 

drive a hackney carriage, or a private hire vehicle, as the case may 

Page 13



be, such a fee as they consider reasonable with a view to recovering 

the costs of issue and administration and may remit the whole or part 

of the fee in respect of a private hire vehicle in any case in which they 

think it appropriate to do so.”   

6.3 Section 70 of the Act states, in relation to vehicle and operators’ 

licences:  

“(1) Subject to the provisions of subsection (2) of this section, a 

district council may charge such fees for the grant of vehicle and 

operators’ licences as may be resolved by them from time to time and 

as may be sufficient in the aggregate to cover in whole or in part—  

(a) the reasonable cost of the carrying out by or on behalf of the 

district council of inspections of hackney carriages and private hire 

vehicles for the purpose of determining whether any such licence 

should be granted or renewed;  

(b) the reasonable cost of providing hackney carriage stands; and  

(c) any reasonable administrative or other costs in connection with 

the foregoing and with the control and supervision of hackney 

carriages and private hire vehicles.” 

6.4 The costs recoverable within licence fees include, costs of issuing 

and administering licences. This includes costs associated with the 

monitoring and enforcement of such licenses. 

6.5 There has been previous unclarity, if monitoring and enforcement, 

could be charged under Section 53 (2) in respect to drivers.  

6.6 However, in 2019 in a Court of Appeal with Master of the Rolls, King 

LJ and Lavender J stated:  

“46. In any event, we consider that the costs of enforcing the 

behaviour of licensed drivers can be recovered through the driver’s 

licence fee under section 53(2). The relevant words in that provision 

are “the costs of issue and administration”. The costs of 

“administration” must be something other than, and in addition to, the 

costs of “issue”. There is no difficulty in interpreting “administration” in 

its statutory context as extending to administration of the licence after 

it has been issued. It naturally includes the costs of suspension and 

Page 14



revocation, which are events expressly mentioned in Part II of the 

1976 Act.  

Suspension and revocation rest on non-compliance with the 

requirements and conditions for continuing to hold the licence. As we 

have said, it would therefore have been obvious to Parliament, when 

enacting the 1976 Act, that costs would be incurred by the district 

council in monitoring compliance with such requirements and 

conditions.” 

“48. For those reasons, both on the literal wording of section 53(2) 

and, if and so far as necessary, applying a purposive interpretation, 

we consider that the costs of monitoring and enforcing the behaviour 

of licensed drivers can be recovered through the fee under section 

53(2).” 

6.7 The Council cannot make a profit from licence fees and there must be 

a carry forward of any surplus. There can also be recovery of any 

deficit. 

6.8 In R v Westminster City Council, ex parte Hutton (1985) 83 L.G.R. 

461. The court held that where the fee income generated in one year 

fails to meet the costs of administering the licensing system, it is open 

to the local authority to make a proportionate increase in the licence 

fee for the following year so as to recoup the cost of the shortfall 

(Hutton at p 518). 

6.9 This longstanding principle was confirmed in Hemming [2012] EWHC 

1260 (Admin).  

6.10 In the case of Hemming (2012), The court determined licence fee 

surpluses as well as deficits are to be carried forward. The licensing 

authority is not entitled to make a profit. The court did not require pin-

point precision year on year. 

6.11 The council does not have to adjust the licence fee every year to 

reflect any previous deficit or surplus, so long as it ‘all comes out in 

the wash’ eventually. And the adjustment does not have to be 

precise: a rough and ready calculation which is broadly correct will 

suffice.  

Page 15



Recent years Fees and Changes  

6.12 Due to the covid- 19 pandemic, and impact of various lockdowns, 

Licensing Committee members agreed to no change to licensing fees 

in April 2021 and April 2022. 

 

Proposed fees and charges  

6.13 The calculation of the taxi and private hire fees and charges 2023/24, 

considered specific officer role and their time involved in the issuing 

and processing of applications, in addition to the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with conditions.  

6.14 The draft proposed fees and charges 2023/24 compared to those in 

2022/23 attached as appendix D, see an increase to a majority of 

fees and charges.  

6.15 Where changes to fees are indicated, these have been made with 

reference to the costs involved in the work required, rather than a 

standadised approach.  

6.16 There has been changes in taxi licensing processes, which has seen 

an increase to the processing and enforcement work required for 

licences/applications.  

6.17 In July 2020 the Department for Transport (DfT) published its 

‘Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards’ guidance document. 

The recommendations contained within replace the relevant sections 

of the DfT’s ‘Best Practice Guidance’ issued in 2010.  The DfT 

advised licensing authorities to publish their consideration of the new 

‘Standards’ by the end of January 2021 in the interests of 

transparency.  

6.18 On 25th January 2021, committee report was presented to Licensing 

Committee with 13 standards requiring consideration, which were 

subsequently approved.  

6.19 These included, competing Enhanced DBS checks for licenced 

drivers every 6 months and requiring a basic DBS check for non-

driver proprietors every 12 months.  

Page 16

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/928583/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212554/taxi-private-hire-licensing-guide.pdf


6.20 The charge for the DVLA Data Checks, is determined by the provider 

License Bureau/continuum . The current fee remains unchanged. Any 

future changes to the associated price are in line with the charges 

made by the third party company that undertakes this work.  These 

prices will be reflected in fees immediately on date License Bureau 

specify.  

6.21 The charge for Enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service Check (DBS) 

is determined by the Disclosure & Barring Service. Any future 

changes announced by DBS will be reflected in fees immediately on 

date DBS specify.  

Additions and changes to fees 

6.22 A fee for Change of vehicle registration has been split between HCV 

and PHV taking into account material costs differences between HCV 

and PHV plates.  

6.23 Structure for the payments for knowledge test and safeguarding test  

have been amended due to slight differences in processing 

procedures.  Initial cost for first attempt of Knowledge Test and 

Safeguarding Test have been previously separate, however it is 

proposed from April 2023, they are joined. Subsequent tests will be 

changed separately for the knowledge and safeguarding test.  

6.24  In regards to non – driver proprietor basic DBS checks, not all vehicles 

include an additional non-driver proprietor. Majority sit with HCV, which 

can have between 1 and 4 non -driver proprietors. Due to this, it was 

felt that adding the additional processing tasks and associated costs to 

vehicle licensing fee was not proportionate. A standalone annual fee 

has been created to recover associated costs for managing non-driver 

proprietors.   

Amendments following consultation 

6.25 Following feedback from the consultation and petition as attached as 

Appendices B and C and discussion with the Chair of Licensing, it 

was felt that it would be unreasonable at this time to make such a 

large increase on some of the fees and therefore in consultation with 

Chair of Licensing the fees for some of the processes have been 

amended as attached in Appendix E. 

Page 17



 

 

7) Fees and Charges for training  

7.1. Fees for training given by Council officers in respect of Award for 

Personal Licence Holders Level 1, fee has increased by 8.7%. 

7.2. Fees for BIIAB Level 2 Award for Personal Licence Holders has 

increased by 9.8% following recalculation of officer time and 

resources used to complete training.   

8) Fees for licences and permits issued under the Licensing 

Act 2003  

8.1 Fees for licences issued under the Licensing Act 2003 are currently 

fixed by central government and are included for information only. 

Cambridge City Council is not permitted to deviate from these figures. 

9) Fees for licences and permits issued under the Gambling 

Act 2005 

9.1 Fees for permits issued under the Gambling Act 2005 are currently 

fixed by central government and are included for information only.  

Cambridge City Council is not permitted to deviate from these figures. 

9.2 In contrast licences issued under the Act are subject to maximum 

levels as laid down by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport.  

10)  Fees for street trading licences 

10.1 City Centre Management administer the fees for street trading 

licences.  The current fees have been reviewed and officers have 

confirmed no change to fees 

 

Page 18



11) Implications 

a) Financial Implications 

Page: 9 

The charges are set to recover the Council’s allowable costs. The Council 

cannot make a profit and must carry forward any surplus. Any deficit is 

carried forward and will be recovered in subsequent years. Surpluses or 

deficits will be considered when fee setting in future years with the 

objective of recovering or refunding any surplus or deficit 

b) Staffing Implications 

 

Staff will be required to update relevant information on the Cambridge City 

Council Website, Environmental Health management system and send out 

required communication to stakeholders. These costs are to be absorb in 

daily job requirements.  

 

c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

Nil.  

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

Nil.  

e) Procurement Implications 

Nil.  

f) Community Safety Implications 

Nil.  

Page 19



12) Consultation and communication considerations 

11.1 Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the 

Council is required to consult on any changes to the fees and charges 

in respect of vehicle and operator licences.  

11.2 There is no such requirement under section 53 (2) for the Act for driver 

licences to be advertised. However the same procedure has been 

adapted.  

11.3 A public consultation took place from 30 November 2022 to 6 Janaury 

2023.  The consultation was advertised by public notice in Cambridge 

News and notice was displayed at Cambridge City Council main officer. 

All licence holders were advised of consultation via e-mail and also 

received a copy of the proposed fees and charges (Appendix A) 

attached within an e-mail.  

11.4 Nine (9) consultation responses were received, which are illustrated in 

Appendix B. All reposnes received achknoledgement e-mail. Six (6) 

respondants were directly provided with the fees and charges 

spreadsheet used to calculate fees. Following further correspodance 

two (2) respondants requested budget, copy of taci budget was 

provided (document also out as part of consultation of wider budget 

consultation).  

11.5 Signed petition was also received, containing 104 signatures, as part of 

the consultation on 29th December 2022. Appendix C. 

11.6 Consideration was taken to responses received, in respect to 

increasing fees and charges. Following discussions between 

Environmental Health Manager and Environmental Health and 

Licensing Support Team Leader, and subsequent discussion with Chair 

of Licensng a decision was taken to amend some of the fees for certain 

processes and therefore the  above recommendations as detailed in 

section 2 should still be considered.    

 

13) Background papers 

Hemming (2012) EWHC 1260 (Admin)  

Hemming [2013] EWCA Civ 591 

Page 20



Rehman (On Behalf of the Wakefield District Hackney Carriage And Private 

Hire (2019 EWCA Civ 2166 

 

14) Appendices 

Appendix A - Consultation document shared as part of public consultation 

Appendix B - Consultation responses  

Appendix C – Summary of Petition  

Appendix D- Draft Table of proposed fees and charges 2023/24 compared to 

2022/23 

Appendix E – Table of proposed fees and charges 2023/24 as amended 

following consultation 

 

15) Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 

contact Wangari Njiiri , Environmental Health and Licensing Support Team 

Leader, tel: 01223 - 458533, email: wangari.njiiri@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 21

https://www.casemine.com/judgement/uk/5df07c0a2c94e0601df452bd
https://www.casemine.com/judgement/uk/5df07c0a2c94e0601df452bd


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
Cambridge City Council has the authority to levy certain charges in respect of Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing  

Cambridge City Council proposes the following changes to its fees and charges as of 1st April 2023: 

TAXI LICENSING: FEES AND CHARGES 

Drivers 

Disclosure & Barring Service Check (DBS) £38 

Knowledge and Safeguarding Test £120 

Driver Licence (new) £270 

Driver Renewal (1 Year) £235 

Driver Renewal (3 Year) £280 

Replacement Driver Badge £25 

Replacement Driver Licence £25 

Change of Details £25 

DVLA Data Check (1 Year) £5.52 

DVLA Data Check (3 Year) £16.56 

Vehicles 

Change of Vehicle Ownership £100 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence (new) £315 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence  (new) £295 

Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle £157.50 

Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle £147.50 

Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle £0 

Private Hire Zero Emission Vehicle £0 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence (renewal) £220 

Private Hire Vehicle Licence (renewal) £205 

Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) £110 

Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) £102.5 

Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) £0 

Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) £0 

Private Hire Vehicle Plate Deposit £50 

Door Crests (magnetic) £15 

Door Crests (adhesive) £13 

Replacement Plate PHV/HCV £45/£40 

Replacement Vehicle Licence £25 

Change of Details £25 

Non – Driver Proprietor £15 

Change of Vehicle registration PHV/HCV £45/£40 

Test of Knowledge 

Safeguarding Test £50 

Knowledge Test retake £80 

Operators 

Private Hire Operator’s licence (new) £320 

Private Hire Operator’s licence (renewal – 1 yearly) £285 

Private Hire Operator’s licence (renewal – 5 yearly) £1060 

Replacement Operator Licence £25 

Change of Details £25 

Any objections should be e-mailed to taxi@cambridge.gov.uk. Attention of Yvonne O’Donnell 
by 6th January 2023.  Page 23

mailto:taxi@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – Consultation responses 

Response 

Number 

Date 

Received 

Comment Response 

1 30/11/2022 Hello, 

My complain is that at present all fees paid by the 
trade can not be accounted for,  it would seem that 
fee’s are levied though 3rd party driver licensing 
checks when you can do this yourselves & has 
become a non transparent financial system. 
The call centre has shared funding & we seem to 
be lacking any form of full time, taxi administration, 
licensing, & enforcement officers  …. When this 
duty was transferred to all local authorities it was 
suppose to be a “stand alone” mechanism that 
licensed & protected the pubic - with no 
attachments  to other departments financially - 
therefore the funds from this trade can’t be fully 
seen as staying with a TAXI LICENSING DEPT 
remit! - please justify any increase of any nature, 
as you need to keep this with taxi licensing only! 
 Im not suggesting any form of stealing or fraud - 
but does suggest that the accounts are now getting 
hard to follow & has very few  full time taxi staff - 
that this trade is paying for  

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

Subsequent e-mail sent:  

Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 
conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  

2 30/11/2022 Good evening  
I strongly oppose any future increase in fees during 
the current economic climate.  

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

P
age 25



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

The cost of living crisis is making life difficult 
enough already , any increase will  add to what is a 
very difficult time financially for everyone.  
Also I'm currently undecided as to the political 
party I'll be voting for at the next general election  , 
I understand that Cambridge City is controlled by 
Labour , traditionally  the " working mans party ".  
 
Many thanks  

 

 

 

3 02/12/2022 Hi  
Business has been un imaginable ?!!! But our so 
called council!.. still implement more charges on 
upon us knowing that times are hard?!!! How does 
that work? 
You still allow more plates and more taxi licenses 
knowing there is no further space ! ( even for 
existing licensed cabs and license holders within 
the city?… 
This is and can be said and told as being greedy 
by your own self!..it is unmissable and 
unexepytable!..  
please do not take this lightly!.. 
As what has become of our town!.. recently just to 
CONgest our town up due to your propaganda!..it’s 
seen with open eyes!.. 
Please be ready for a court case if necessary!.. 
This is actually bullying!… 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

Subsequent e-mail sent:  
Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

 

P
age 26



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

By the people that are supposed to be watching 
out for (us!..) 
 
Nevertheless I have taken note and thus shall be 
passed on to the authorities that will actually make 
a stand for it!.. 
 
I wish you all the best and see you in a un_biased 
place!.. to make things clear and transparent!.. 
 
(Very much upset with the body that is supposed to 
protect us!) what a shame!!! 
 

 

Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 
conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  

 

4 4/12/2022 My complain is that at present all fees paid by the 
trade can not be accounted for,  it would seem that 
fee’s are levied though 3rd party driver licensing 
checks when you can do this yourselves & has 
become a non transparent financial system. 
The call centre has shared funding & we seem to 
be lacking any form of full time, taxi administration, 
licensing, & enforcement officers  …. When this 
duty was transferred to all local authorities it was 
suppose to be a “stand alone” mechanism that 
licensed & protected the pubic - with no 
attachments  to other departments financially - 
therefore the funds from this trade can’t be fully 
seen as staying with a TAXI LICENSING 
DEPARTMENT! - please justify any increase of 
any nature, as you need to keep this with taxi 
licensing only! 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

Subsequent e-mail sent:  
Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

 

P
age 27



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

 Im not suggesting any form of stealing or fraud - 
but does suggest that the accounts are now getting 
hard to follow & has very few  full time taxi staff - 
that this trade is paying for.  
 

Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 
conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  
 

 

5 5/12/2022 Dear Sir/Madam, 
 
One year driver licence renewal £235 from £78 is 
too much and unfair. 
 
For three years drivers license renewal increase 
22%. 
 
Change for details increase 66%  £25 it’s taken 5 
minutes to do. 
 
Door sign increase 90% 
 
I am happy to increase as much %you can 
increase taxi fares . 
 
Thank you for looking after us. 
 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

Subsequent e-mail sent:  
 
Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

 
Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 

P
age 28



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  

 

6 06/12/2022 I feel that in this financially testing times that a 
renewal of either Hackney carriior private hire 
license fees should be reduced to help drivers out 
with paying bills not increased Yours 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent 

Subsequent e-mail sent:  
 
Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

 
Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 
conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  

 

7 07/12/2022 Good morning,  
 
 

Thank you for your response to the 
recent consultation.  

P
age 29



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

Due to price rises on everything I'm struggling with 
all the bills etc. Please don't do the price rises. 
Thanks 
 

The Council must seek to recover 

the costs associated with 

processing applications for licences 

as well as the administration and 

monitoring of compliance with 

conditions. The council is not 

permitted to make a surplus, nor to 

subsidies, licence holders, and so 

where necessary fees are adjusted 

in succeeding years to achieve and 

maintain the correct balance. 

 
Please find attached taxi licensing 
fee calculation in which processing 
of applications, administration and 
monitoring of compliance of 
conditions has been recorded 
against time spent and cost.  

 

8 22/12/2022 Stop put price up, Enough is Enough  
Turn your face who works hard  
Regards  
 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent  

 

9 23/12/2022 Re: Taxi fees increase.  
 
I think it's not appropriate to increase taxi licensing 
fee's especially during current ongoing economic 
situation. 
 

Acknowledgement e-mail sent  

 

P
age 30



Appendix C – Consultation responses  
 
 

As you may or may not be aware Cambridge taxi 
trade hasn't fully recovered from the pandemic and 
hard hitting recession.  
 
I believe current fees should be frozen for atleast 
another two years. 
 
 

 

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C  

Petition 

We the undersigned strongly disagree with the proposals to change it’s fees 

and charges as of 1 April 2023 

To ensure personal identifiable data is not disclosed the petition has been removed. 

However, the petition has been signed by 104 Hackney Carriage Drives licensed 

with Cambridge City Council 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Charge Type and description Charges 2022/23                
£

Proposed 
Charges 2023/24                      

£

% Increase 
2023/24

Skin Piercing
Skin Piercing – Premises 149.00 166.00 11.4%
Skin Piercing - Practitioners 57.00 60.00 5.3%

Sex Establishments
Sexual Entertainment Venues (new & variation) 3,131.00 3,425.00 9.4%
Sexual Entertainment Venues (renewal) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sexual Entertainment Venues (transfer) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (new & variation) 2,900.00 3,173.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (renewal) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (transfer) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%

Drivers
Disclosure & Barring Service Check (DBS) * 40.00 38.00 (5.0%)
Safeguarding and Knowledge Test ( New Applicants ) NEW 120.00
New Licence Fee 250.00 270.00 8.0%
Annual Renewal Fee 84.00 235.00 179.8%
3 Yearly Renewal Fee 230.00 280.00 21.7%
Replacement Badges 21.00 25.00 19.0%
DVLA Data Check * 5.52 5.52 0.0%
DVLA Data Check for 3 year licence * 16.52 16.52 0.0%
Change of Details 15.00 25.00 66.7%
Replacement Licence 10.00 25.00 150.0%
Safeguarding Test for Renewal and Non - Driver Proprietor NEW 50.00
Knowledge Test Retest NEW 80.00
Vehicles
Hackney Carriage Licence (new) 281.00 315.00 12.1%
Private Hire Licence (new) 281.00 295.00 5.0%
Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (new) 140.00 157.50 12.5%
Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (new) 140.00 147.50 5.4%
Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (new) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Private Hire Zero Emission Vehicle (new) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Hackney Carriage Licence (Renewal) 245.00 220.00 (10.2%)
Private Hire Licence (Renewal) 230.00 205.00 (10.9%)
Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) 122.00 110.00 (9.8%)
Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) 115.00 102.50 (10.9%)
Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Private Hire Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Plate Deposit 50.00 50.00 0.0%
Replacement Plate HCV 26.00 40.00 53.8%
Replacement Plate PHV 26.00 45.00 73.1%
Change of Ownership 74.00 100.00 35.1%
Crest - self adhesive 6.00 13.00 116.7%
Crest - magnetic 8.00 15.00 87.5%
Replacement Licence 10.00 25.00 150.0%
Change of Details 15.00 25.00 66.7%
Non - Driver Proprietor NEW 15.00
Change of Vehicle registration PHV NEW 45.00
Change of Vehicle resgistration HCV NEW 40.00
Operators Licence
Private Hire Operators Licence (New) 292.00 320.00 9.6%
Private Hire Operators Licence (Renewal - 1 Year) 218.00 285.00 30.7%
Private Hire Operators Licence (renewal - 5 Year) 895.00 1,060.00 18.4%
Replacement Licence 10.00 25.00 150.0%
Change of Details 15.00 25.00 66.7%

Training
BIIAB Level 1 Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 69.00 75.00 8.7%
BIIAB Level 2 Award for Personal Licence Holders 112.00 123.00 9.8%

Licensing Act 2003 (**Statutory Set)
Personal Licence 37.00 37.00 0.0%
New Premises Licence (or full variation) Various Various 0.0%
Annual Fee Various Various 0.0%
Minor Variation 89.00 89.00 0.0%
Temporary Event Notice 21.00 21.00 0.0%
Change of Designated Premises Supervisor 23.00 23.00 0.0%

Gambling Act 2005 (**Statutory Set)
Bingo Club (New) 2,625.00 2,625.00 0.0%
Bingo Club (Annual Fee) 900.00 900.00 0.0%
Small Society Lottery (New) 40.00 40.00 0.0%
Small Society Lottery (Annual) 20.00 20.00 0.0%
Betting Premises (New) 2,250.00 2,250.00 0.0%
Betting Premises (Annual Fee) 540.00 540.00 0.0%
Family Entertainment Centre (Annual Fee) 500.00 500.00 0.0%
Adult Gaming Centre (New) 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.0%
Adult Gaming Centre (Annual Fee) 900.00 900.00 0.0%

Animal Licensing
Zoo 603.00 660.00 9.5%

Appendix D - Licensing

Page 35



Charge Type and description Charges 2022/23                
£

Proposed 
Charges 2023/24                      

£

% Increase 
2023/24

Dangerous Wild Animals (Plus Vet fees) 298.00 326.00 9.4%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (Plus Vet fees) 53.00 58.00 9.4%
Exhibiting animals:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Maintenance fee (3 years) 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Selling animals as pets:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Riding Establishment:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee ( plus additional vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (plus vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Dog Breeding:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee ( plus additional vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (plus vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Animal Boarding:
Fees on application: up to 10 animals 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Fees on application: 11- 30 animals 179.00 196.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 179.00 196.00 9.5%
Fees on application: 31-60 animals 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Fees on application: 61-99 animals 268.00 293.00 9.3%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 268.00 293.00 9.3%
Fees on application: 100 or more animals 313.00 342.00 9.3%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 313.00 342.00 9.3%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%

Street Trading
12 month food licence pitch 2,886.00 2,886.00 0.0%
12 month retail licence pitch 2,727.00 2,727.00 0.0%
8 month food licence pitch 2,165.00 2,165.00 0.0%
8 month retail licence pitch 2,045.00 2,045.00 0.0%
4 month food licence pitch 722.00 722.00 0.0%
4 month retail licence pitch 682.00 682.00 0.0%

*  Externally set fees and charges
** Statutory set

Page 36



Charge Type and description Charges 2022/23                
£

Proposed 
Charges 2023/24                      

£

% Increase 
2023/24

Skin Piercing
Skin Piercing – Premises 149.00 166.00 11.4%
Skin Piercing - Practitioners 57.00 60.00 5.3%

Sex Establishments
Sexual Entertainment Venues (new & variation) 3,131.00 3,425.00 9.4%
Sexual Entertainment Venues (renewal) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sexual Entertainment Venues (transfer) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (new & variation) 2,900.00 3,173.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (renewal) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%
Sex Shop / Sex Cinema (transfer) 927.00 1,014.00 9.4%

Drivers
Disclosure & Barring Service Check (DBS) * 40.00 38.00 (5.0%)
Safeguarding and Knowledge Test ( New Applicants ) NEW 120.00
New Licence Fee 250.00 270.00 8.0%
1 Year Renewal Fee 84.00 100.00 19.0%
3 Yearly Renewal Fee 230.00 280.00 21.7%
Replacement Badges 21.00 25.00 19.0%
1 year DVLA Data Check (1 year) * 5.52 5.52 0.0%
DVLA Data Check for 3 year licence * 16.52 16.52 0.0%
Change of Details 15.00 20.00 33.3%
Replacement Licence 10.00 20.00 100.0%
Safeguarding Test for Renewal and Non - Driver Proprietor NEW 50.00
Knowledge Test Retest NEW 80.00
Vehicles
Hackney Carriage Licence (new) 281.00 315.00 12.1%
Private Hire Licence (new) 281.00 295.00 5.0%
Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (new) 140.00 157.50 12.5%
Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (new) 140.00 147.50 5.4%
Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (new) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Private Hire Zero Emission Vehicle (new) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Hackney Carriage Licence (Renewal) 245.00 220.00 (10.2%)
Private Hire Licence (Renewal) 230.00 205.00 (10.9%)
Hackney Carriage Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) 122.00 110.00 (9.8%)
Private Hire Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (renewal) 115.00 102.50 (10.9%)
Hackney Carriage Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Private Hire Zero Emission Vehicle (renewal) 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Plate Deposit 50.00 50.00 0.0%
Replacement Plate HCV 26.00 35.00 34.6%
Replacement Plate PHV 26.00 40.00 53.8%
Change of Ownership 74.00 85.00 14.9%
Crest - self adhesive each 6.00 10.00 66.7%
Crest - magnetic each 8.00 12.00 50.0%
Replacement Licence 10.00 20.00 100.0%
Change of Details 15.00 20.00 33.3%
Non - Driver Proprietor NEW 15.00
Change of Vehicle registration PHV NEW 45.00
Change of Vehicle resgistration HCV NEW 40.00
Operators Licence
Private Hire Operators Licence (New) 292.00 320.00 9.6%
Private Hire Operators Licence (Renewal - 1 Year) 218.00 285.00 30.7%
Private Hire Operators Licence (renewal - 5 Year) 895.00 1,060.00 18.4%
Replacement Licence 10.00 20.00 100.0%
Change of Details 15.00 20.00 33.3%

Training
BIIAB Level 1 Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 69.00 75.00 8.7%
BIIAB Level 2 Award for Personal Licence Holders 112.00 123.00 9.8%

Licensing Act 2003 (**Statutory Set)
Personal Licence 37.00 37.00 0.0%
New Premises Licence (or full variation) Various Various 0.0%
Annual Fee Various Various 0.0%
Minor Variation 89.00 89.00 0.0%
Temporary Event Notice 21.00 21.00 0.0%
Change of Designated Premises Supervisor 23.00 23.00 0.0%

Gambling Act 2005 (**Statutory Set)
Bingo Club (New) 2,625.00 2,625.00 0.0%
Bingo Club (Annual Fee) 900.00 900.00 0.0%
Small Society Lottery (New) 40.00 40.00 0.0%
Small Society Lottery (Annual) 20.00 20.00 0.0%
Betting Premises (New) 2,250.00 2,250.00 0.0%
Betting Premises (Annual Fee) 540.00 540.00 0.0%
Family Entertainment Centre (Annual Fee) 500.00 500.00 0.0%
Adult Gaming Centre (New) 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.0%
Adult Gaming Centre (Annual Fee) 900.00 900.00 0.0%

Animal Licensing
Zoo 603.00 660.00 9.5%

Appendix E - Licensing

Page 37



Charge Type and description Charges 2022/23                
£

Proposed 
Charges 2023/24                      

£

% Increase 
2023/24

Dangerous Wild Animals (Plus Vet fees) 298.00 326.00 9.4%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (Plus Vet fees) 53.00 58.00 9.4%
Exhibiting animals:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Maintenance fee (3 years) 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Selling animals as pets:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Riding Establishment:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee ( plus additional vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (plus vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Dog Breeding:
Fees on application 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee ( plus additional vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection (plus vets fee not included) 45.00 49.00 8.9%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%
Animal Boarding:
Fees on application: up to 10 animals 79.00 86.00 8.9%
Initial rating or re-rating fee 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 135.00 148.00 9.6%
Fees on application: 11- 30 animals 179.00 196.00 9.5%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 179.00 196.00 9.5%
Fees on application: 31-60 animals 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 223.00 244.00 9.4%
Fees on application: 61-99 animals 268.00 293.00 9.3%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 268.00 293.00 9.3%
Fees on application: 100 or more animals 313.00 342.00 9.3%
Variation of a licence requiring a re-inspection 313.00 342.00 9.3%
Maintenance fee: one year 130.00 142.00 9.2%
two years 260.00 284.00 9.2%
three years 390.00 427.00 9.5%
Copy of licence or change of details not requiring an inspection 11.50 12.50 8.7%

Street Trading
12 month food licence pitch 2,886.00 2,886.00 0.0%
12 month retail licence pitch 2,727.00 2,727.00 0.0%
8 month food licence pitch 2,165.00 2,165.00 0.0%
8 month retail licence pitch 2,045.00 2,045.00 0.0%
4 month food licence pitch 722.00 722.00 0.0%
4 month retail licence pitch 682.00 682.00 0.0%

*  Externally set fees and charges
** Statutory set

Page 38



 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE LIVERY 

To:  
Licensing Committee     30/01/2023 

Report by:  

Yvonne O'Donnell, Environmental Health Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457951  Email: yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

None directly affected 

 
 
 
 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 Under the powers conferred to Cambridge City Council under the 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, (as amended), Cambridge City 

Council has responsibility for licensing Hackney Carriage, Private 

Hire and Dual Licence Drivers as well as vehicle proprietors and 

Private Hire Operators within the City. 

1.2 The current Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy (the 

‘policy’) applies to all drivers, vehicles and operators and was 

updated in October 2016 and has been reviewed and amended on 

several occasions since. 

1.3 On 9th July 2018 at full Licensing Committee, Members agreed, in 

part, on the specification for a Livery for Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

(HCV) which was a silver base.  

1.4 On 16th October 2018 at full Licensing Committee, Members agreed 

the colour green for the wrap of two gloss stripes along either side of 

the silver HCV. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



1.5 The Livery standards was implemented from January 2019, whereby 

all new HCV must be of a silver base with a green strip down either 

side of the vehicle. 

1.6 The main justification to having a livery requirement is for the safety 

of the travelling public. It assists the travelling public to identify easily 

a HCV that is licensed by Cambridge City Council and thereby have 

had all the necessary safety checks in place especially when being 

hailed down in the street.  

1.7 On Thursday 29th December 2022, the Licensing Authority received 

a petition signed by 101 Hackney Carriage Vehicle drivers 

requesting for the livery standards to be removed, as referenced in 

Appendix A. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 Members of the Licensing Committee are recommended to retain the 

current livery standards for HCV as part of the Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire taxi licensing policy. 

3. Background 

3.1 Cambridge City Council has responsibility for licensing Hackney 

Carriage, Private Hire and Dual Licence Drivers as well as vehicle 

proprietors and Private Hire Operators within the City. 

3.2 In doing so, Cambridge City Council seeks to promote the following 

objectives that impact on the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

trades:  

i) The protection of the public;  

ii) The establishment of professional and respected hackney 

carriage and private hire trades;  

iii) Access to an efficient and effective public transport service 

iv) The protection of the environment 

 

Page 40



3.3 The current Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy (the 

‘policy’) applies to all drivers, vehicles and operators and was 

updated in 2016.   

3.4 Subsequent requests including the introduction to a livery from the 

trade to revise the policy, led to the Licensing Committee in 24th July 

2017 resolving to request officers go out to consult on the proposed 

amendment to the policy. 

3.5 Public consultation took place from 31st July 2017 until 3rd 

September 2017.  

3.6 At Licensing Committee on 16th October 2017, Members agreed to 

the addition of a Livery requirement for all Hackney Carriage 

Vehicles in order for the public to readily identify licensed Hackney 

Carriage Vehicles which are regulated and safe by Cambridge City 

Council.    

3.7 A public consultation took place between 1st and 26th March 2018 

with the proposed changes requested by the trade including the 

introduction of a livery for Hackney Carriage Vehicles. 

3.8 A meeting to discuss the results of the consultation took place with 

members of the Trade on 1st May 2018. At this meeting the Council 

and Trade representatives agreed proposals for the Livery and 

implementation plan. 

3.9 At Full Licensing Committee on 9th July 2018 the proposals were 

presented to Members who agreed to a silver colour base to the 

vehicle but were unable to agree to the colour of the wrap.  

3.10 At Full Licensing Committee on 1st October 2018 members agreed to 

the wrap being 2 green strips along both sides of the vehicle with 

different widths depending on whether it was a saloon vehicle or a 

wheelchair accessible vehicle. 

3.11 At Licensing Committee on 9th July 2018, members agreed an 

implementation plan in that all existing silver vehicles at that time 

would need to have the wrap placed on the vehicle at the next 

renewal, and all other HCV would need to full comply with the livery 

requirement upon change of vehicle.  The implementation date 

agreed was 1st October 20218. 

Page 41



3.12 At full Licensing Committee on 1st October 2018 members agreed to 

amend the original implementation date to 1st January 2019. 

3.13 On Thursday 29th December 2022, the Licensing Authority received 

a petition signed by 101 Hackney Carriage Vehicle drivers 

requesting for the livery requirement to be removed (attached as 

Appendix A). However, there was no justifiable reason why the livery 

requirement should be removed. 

3.14 To date 179 out of the 306 Hackney Carriage Vehicles, comply with 

livery requirement. If the policy remains in place then the 300 of HCV 

will meet the livery requirement by 2028 however  due to the fact that 

6 vehicles became electric just before the policy was implemented 

meaning those vehicles have a longer taxi life span. 

3.15 The main justification to having a livery requirement is for the safety 

of the travelling public. It assists the travelling public to identify easily 

a HCV that is licensed by Cambridge City Council and thereby have 

had all the necessary safety checks in place especially when being 

hailed down in the street.  

3.16 Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act  

1976 states that a hackney carriage should be of such a design and 

appearance or bear such distinguishing marks to clearly identify it as 

a hackney carriage. Cambridge City Council has a duty to provide a 

safe and secure taxi service and by implementing a Livery, this will 

enhance the identification of Hackney Carriage Vehicles and support 

the legislation.  

3.17 It also gives the HCV trade an identity that would support their 

business.  

 

4. Implications 

a) Financial Implications 

Costs for the requirement of a livery will be borne by vehicle proprietors. 

 

b) Staffing Implications 

      Nil 

Page 42



c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

      Nil 

d) Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

      Nil 

e) Procurement Implications 

      Nil. 

f) Community Safety Implications 

 

Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

states that a hackney carriage should be of such a design and 

appearance or bear such distinguishing marks to clearly identify it as a 

hackney carriage. Cambridge City Council has a duty to provide a safe 

and secure taxi service and by implementing a Livery, this will enhance 

the identification of Hackney Carriage Vehicles and support the 

legislation.  

 

5. Consultation and communication considerations 

A public consultation initially took place from 31st July 2017 until 3rd 

September 2017 as part of a wider policy consultation   

A further consultation took place from 1st to 26th March 2018 specifically 

on the Livery.  

Further discussion with Trade representatives took place at a meeting 

on 1st May 2018  and 18th July 2018. 

 

6. Background papers 

Background papers used in the preparation of this report: 

Reports and Minutes to Licensing Committee  24th July 2017, 16th 

October 2017, 9th July 2018, 1st October 2018 

 

Page 43



7. Appendices 

Appendix A: Summary of petition received 29th December 2022 

8. Inspection of papers 

 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please  

contact Yvonne O'Donnell, Environmental Health Manager, tel: 01223 - 

457951, email: yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk. 

Page 44



Appendix A  

Petition 

Do you think Taxi Trade and public benefit form Silver Livery which was 

introduced by Cambridge City Council? Do you want it scrapped? Yes or No  

To ensure personal identifiable data is not disclosed the petition has been removed. 

However, the petition has been signed by 101 Hackney Carriage Drives licensed 

with Cambridge City Council in support of the scheme being scrapped.  

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Report page no. 1 Agenda page no. 

 

Item  

LIMITING THE NUMBER OF HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE LICENCES 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The Council may, as part of its adopted policy on the licensing of 

Hackney Carriages (HCV), consider whether to apply a limit on the 

maximum number of HCV licences which it will issue at any time. 

However, this power may be exercised only if the Council is satisfied 

that there is no significant demand for the services of HCVs which is 

unmet (section 16 Transport Act 1985).  The Council has no power 

to limit the number of Private Hire Vehicle (PHV) licences. 

1.2 At a meeting on 24th October 2011 the Licensing Committee 

resolved that a demand survey should be carried out to establish 

whether or not the current HCV fleet met the demand for HCV 

services within the district, and additionally to cover accessibility 

issues and the provision of ranks within the district. 

1.3 The demand survey was carried out in 2012 but members were 

concerned that it had not provided a sound evidence base for 

concluding that there was no unmet demand, due to a lack of 

engagement by the taxi trade. 

To:  

Licensing Committee   [30/01/2023]   

Report by:  

Yvonne O'Donnell, Environmental Health Manager  

Tel: 01223 - 457951  Email: yvonne.odonnell@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 
Report page no. 2 Agenda page no. 

 

 

1.4 At a meeting on 21st July 2014, the Licensing Committee instructed 

officers to seek a further survey to establish if there is evidence that 

there is no significant demand that is unmet and to investigate the 

costs of carrying out such a survey. 

1.5 On 26th January 2015 Officers brought a report to Licensing 

Committee asking members to determine whether to adopt a policy 

of limiting the number of hackney carriage vehicles which it license in 

the city, and, if so to decide at what level the limit should be set. 

1.6 Members agreed that a limit should be set at 317 with immediate 

effect. However, following Committee Officers identified that due to a 

systems error there were currently 321 Hackney Carriage vehicles 

licensed with the City. The Director took an urgent decision that the 

limit should be set at 321 and this was endorsed at Licensing 

Committee on 23rd March 2015. 

1.7 At Licensing Committee on 26th January 2015 it was agreed that this 

policy should be reviewed after 3 years. 

1.8 The most recent demand survey to be completed was 2017. The 

survey results and committee report were brought in front of 

members in January 2018, who unanimously resolved they were 

satisfied that there was no significant demand for hackney carriages 

in Cambridge which was unmet and refused to remove the existing 

limit of 321.  

1.9 Following the 2017 survey, the next survey was due to be completed 

in 2020. This did not take place, due to the Covid-19 pandemic and 

the various lockdowns put in place by the UK Government. It was 

concluded that a demand survey at that time would not be a true 

representation of the demand. 

1.10 Covid-19 pandemic restrictions were eased on 19th July 2021. As 

time progressed to a new normal. On 31st January 2022, committee 

report was presented to Licensing Committee members. Members 

unanimously resolved to instruct officers to procure and implement a 

new Hackney Carriage Demand Survey to determine whether there 

is a significant unmet demand in the City, and to bring the results 

and recommendations to Licensing Committee in January 2023. 

1.11 Members also resolved to instruct officers as part of the demand 

survey, to review the accessibility policy in relation to the Hackney 

Page 48



 
Report page no. 3 Agenda page no. 

 

 

Carriage Vehicles and to bring the results and recommendations to 

Licensing Committee in January 2023. 

1.12 Following the tendering process, LSVA was appointed to undertake 

the survey, which took place between June and November 2022. 

1.13 The final LVSA report (attached in Appendix A) concludes that there 

is no significant demand that is unmet. The findings of the report also 

indicate that further work is required to better match customer and 

trade expectations and delivery in regards to disability.  

1.14 The purpose of this report is to present the findings of the survey as 

attached in Appendix A and to ask the members of the Licensing 

Committee to decide whether they are satisfied that there is no 

significant demand for the services of HCVs within Cambridge which 

is unmet, and if so, whether to retain a limit on the number of HCV 

licences that the Council issues.  If members decide to retain a limit 

they must then decide what that limit will be. 

Page 49



 
Report page no. 4 Agenda page no. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 Members are asked, to determine whether they are satisfied that there 

is no significant demand for hackney carriages in Cambridge which is 

unmet. 

2.2 If Members are not satisfied under 2.1 (and as such they determine that 

there is significant demand which is unmet), there is no power to 

impose a limit on the number of HCV licences, and therefore the current 

limit must be removed. 

2.3 If Members are satisfied, under 2.1 (and as such they determine that 

there is no significant demand which is unmet), they may EITHER : 

2.3.1 Decide to retain a limit on the number of HCV licences which may 

be issued. If Members decide to retain a limit, they will need to 

resolve, on the basis of the evidence before them, the number of 

hackney carriage licences to be allowed. Members must 

determine if the limit is to: 

2.3.1.1 Keep the limit at the existing level of 321. 

2.3.1.2 Increase the existing limit. Members must 

determine what that limit will be and how new 

licenses will be issued (e.g. first come-first 

served). 

2.3.1.3 Reduce the existing limit. Members must 

determine what the new limit will be and how 

this will be achieved. 

OR 

 

2.3.2 Decide to remove the limit. 

3. Background 

3.1 Cambridge City Council licences both hackney carriages (HCV) and 

private hire vehicles (PHV) to operate within the city. 

3.2 HCVs operate from ranks and can be hailed in the street and they can 

also accept pre-booked fares, either direct or from a licensed operator. 

3.3 PHVs may only accept pre-booked fares from an operator. However, 

there is no power for the Council to limit their numbers, nor to regulate 

those licensed by other Councils and operating in the city. 

Page 50



 
Report page no. 5 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.4 The Transport Act 1985 allows the Council to limit the number of HCVs 

it licences, but only if it is satisfied that there is no significant demand 

for HCVs which is unmet. 

3.5 There is currently a limit on the numbers of HCV licenced by Cambridge 

City Council, 321. 

 

Review of “demand surveys” conducted since 1990 

 

3.6 The Council operated a policy on limitation up until 2001. Surveys 

conducted in 1990 and 1993 concluded that the Council should 

maintain a limit of 120 HCVs. 

3.7 Further surveys were carried out in 1995 and 1997 which showed a 

growth in demand and, in 1995, 5 extra vehicles licences were 

approved.  In 1997 a further 22 vehicle licences were approved bringing 

the total to 147. Also in 1997 Members asked for a report to remove the 

limitation on the number of licences issued. 

3.8 In 1999 a further survey was carried out which concluded that a further 

14 licences should be issued to meet the unmet demand.  

3.9 In March 2000 Environment Committee considered a report which 

recommended approval of an additional 14 licences. Members also 

voted on a proposal to remove the limit on the number of hackney 

carriage licences to be issued by the Council in 12 months’ time (July 

2001). 6 members voted in favour, 6 members voted against. Under the 

convention at that time, Chairs of committees with an even number of 

members could not exercise a casting vote and the matter was referred 

to City Board. 

3.10 On the 10th July 2000 City Board referred the matter to full Council for 

consideration on 20th July 2000. At full Council the decision was made 

to de-limit the number of HCV licences issued with effect from 1st July 

2001, with the continued condition that any new HCV licences issued 

had to be for wheelchair accessible vehicles, but not necessarily a 

purpose-built HCV. 

3.11 In 2011 the taxi trade requested that a further survey should be carried 

out and in October 2011 Licensing Committee resolved that the 

purpose of the demand survey was to establish whether or not the 

current HCV fleet met the demand for services within the district, and 

Page 51



 
Report page no. 6 Agenda page no. 

 

 

additionally to cover accessibility issues and the position of ranks within 

the city. 

3.12 A demand survey was conducted by CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd 

in 2012. Licensing Committee on the 28th January 2013 considered the 

report and agreed that a full consultation and community engagement 

programme should be carried out to gather further evidence. Members 

were concerned that the report did not provide a sound evidence base 

due to a lack of engagement by the trade.  

3.13 On 21th July 2014 Licensing Committee decided to seek a further 

survey and a specification was drawn up by officers and tenders 

sought. The tender selected was by CTS, the author of the previous 

survey. The purpose of the survey was to update the previous survey 

and, specifically, to undertake a more in-depth consultation with the taxi 

trade. 

3.14 The updated survey work was carried out in November 2014 and on the 

26th January 2015 at Licensing Committee members took the decision 

to adopt a policy of limiting the number of HCVs which it will licence in 

the City to 317 with immediate effect and subsequently 321under 

urgent decision powers due to an administrative error. 

3.15 At Licensing Committee on 26th January 2015 it was agreed that this   

policy would be reviewed after 3 years. 

3.16 On the 20th March 2017 Officers brought a report to Licensing 

Committee recommending that Officers procure a company to carry out 

a further demand survey to establish if there is significant demand for 

the services of HCVs which is unmet. 

3.17 Following Committee decision to seek a further demand survey, a 

specification was drawn up by Officers and tenders sought. The 

tenderer selected was LSVA (Licensed Vehicle Surveys and 

Assessment) which is an amalgamation of the previous survey author, 

CTS, and Transportation and Vector Consultancy. The survey work 

took place between June and November 2017. 

3.18 A review on whether to limit numbers of hackney carriage licences 

should take place every three years and be subject to local 

consultation. The funding for it has been incorporated into the hackney 

carriage vehicles renewal licensing fees from 2018/19.  

3.19 On the 31st January 2022, report was presented to Licensing committee 

recommending officers precure a company to carry out a demand 

Page 52



 
Report page no. 7 Agenda page no. 

 

 

survey to establish if there is significant demand for the services of 

HCVs which is unmet.  

3.20 Specification was developed by officers and tender published. The 

tender selected LSVA, who had previously completed the demand 

survey within Cambridge.  

3.21 Survey took place in June and November 2022.  

 

National Policy Position 

 

3.22 In March 2010 the Department for Transport issued Best Practice 

Guidance to assist local authorities in England and Wales that have 

responsibility for the HCV and PHV trades.   

3.23 The Guidance is intended to assist licensing authorities but it is only 

guidance and decisions on any matters remain a matter for the 

authority concerned.  It is for individual licensing authorities to reach 

their own decisions both on overall policies and on individual licensing 

matters in the light of their own views of the relevant considerations. 

3.24 Paragraph 47 of the Guidance says “Most licensing authorities do not 

impose quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best 

practice.  Where restrictions are imposed the Department would urge 

that the matter should be regularly reconsidered”.  The Guidance 

suggests that the matter should be approached in terms of the interests 

of the travelling public – that is to say, the people who use the taxi 

services.  The Guidance suggests that authorities consider what 

benefits or disadvantages arise for the travelling public as a result of 

imposing controls and what benefits or disadvantages arise as a result 

of applying no limitation on numbers.  

3.25 Paragraph 48 of the Guidance says that in most cases where quantity 

restrictions are imposed, vehicle licence plates command a premium, 

often of tens of thousands of pounds.  The Guidance comments that 

this indicates that there are people who want to enter the taxi market 

and provide a service to the public but who are being prevented from 

doing so by the quantity restrictions.  The view expressed in the 

Guidance is that this seems very hard to justify. 

3.26 At paragraph 49 the Guidance says: “If a local authority does 

nonetheless take the view that a quantity restriction can be justified in 

Page 53



 
Report page no. 8 Agenda page no. 

 

 

principle, there remains the question of the level at which it should be 

set, bearing in mind the need to demonstrate that there is no significant 

unmet demand.  This issue is usually addressed by means of a survey; 

it will be necessary for the local licensing authority to carry out a survey 

sufficiently frequently to be able to respond to any challenge to the 

satisfaction of a court.  An interval of three years is commonly regarded 

as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. 

3.27 A recommended list of questions for local authorities to address when 

considering quantity controls is set out at Annex A to the Department 

for Transport (DfT) Guidance. 

3.28 In addition, The Law Commission has been considering and consulting 

on a wide range of potential reforms of the taxi trade as a whole, on 

behalf of the Government. 

3.29 The Law Commission’s final document was issued on 23rd May 2014, 

in which it made 84 recommendations in relation to the changes in taxi 

licensing law. Some of the recommendations relevant to this report 

include Licensing Authorities continuing to have the power to limit the 

number of taxi vehicles licenced in their area, subject to a statutory 

public interest test on how this test should apply, and the potential for 

mandatory disability training for all drivers. The report further 

recommended that any limit on the number of taxi vehicles, and an 

accessibility review, should be undertaken at 3 yearly intervals. 

3.30 The Department for Transport (DfT) released a consultation between 28 

March 2022 and 20 June 2022 seeking the views on the update to best 

practice guidance in England.   

3.31 Results are yet to be released, as analysis of feedback is still being 

completed. However, consultation document maintained the general 

principle of the 2010 Taxi and Private Hire vehicle licensing: Best 

practice Guidance, regarding administration of the Demand survey.    

 

Summary of the Findings of the 2022 Demand Survey 

3.32 Please refer to the full survey at Appendix A for more detail. 

3.33 The table below outlines the total number of vehicle licence by year: 

 

Year HCV PHV Total 

1994 120   

Page 54



 
Report page no. 9 Agenda page no. 

 

 

1997 125 281 406 

1999 147 352 499 

2001 175 325 500 

2004 235 236 471 

2005 257 209 466 

2007 282 135 417 

2009 298 199 497 

2010 302 197 499 

2011 303 211 514 

2012 293 217 510 

2013 266 179 445 

2014 309 179 488 

2015 324 178 502 

2016 327 153 480 

2017 326 144 470 

2018 318 129 447 

2019 321 134 455 

2020 316 117 433 

2021 308 98 406 

2022 306 93 399 

3.34 Majority of drivers currently hold dual driver licenses (513) which enable 

them to drive both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. There 

are currently 6 drivers who hold a specific Hackney carriage driver 

licences and no private hire driver only licence holders. As the number 

of drivers exceeds the number of vehicles licences, it is likely vehicles 

are shared amount drivers. 

3.35 In March 2018, Licensing committee agreed to reduce the number of 

Wheelchair Accessible vehicles within the Hackney Carriage Fleet from 

65% to 50%. This was done by offering 50 current WAV the opportunity 

to trade their WAV for an electric vehicle. To date, all available electric 

plates have been allocated.  

Page 55



 
Report page no. 10 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.36 At present there are 147 WAV currently licenced, with 15 vacant HCV 

plates, 13 of which are designated to be WAV. Of the 13, 6 have been 

offered to perspective proprietors and 7 remaining to be offered out. 

Plates 1-121 retain grandfather rights not to adhere to this requirement. 

 

Rank Surveys 

3.37 There were two elements to the rank observation. 

1. The full rank observation which included all ranks within Cambridge, 

and took place from 10:00 on Thursday 17th June 2022 until 11:59 on 

Sunday 19th June.  

2. The three busiest ranks; St Andrew’s Street (including its Drummer 

Street feeder), the private rail station and the main Market Square 

location were observed during November from Thursday 10th November 

at 06:00 through to 05:59 on Sunday 13th November 2022.  

3.38 The full rank observation in June covered 770 hours across all ranks, 

with a supplementary mid-November survey looking at the three busiest 

ranks over a 72-hour period in November, to identify potential impact of 

students being back in the City.  

3.39 Observations found that estimates of average weekly passenger 

demand for 2022 show the dominance of the station rank, which 

provides 63% (up from 49% in 2017) of all passengers. St Andrew’s 

Street provides 22% (28%) with Market Square 4.5% (12% 2017). The 

top two ranks now provide 85% of all passengers – higher than the 77% 

of 2017. Against the trend, the Bridge Street rank had increased usage 

and share, up to 2.9% of the total and marginally busier than Drummer 

Street feeder (2.7%).  

3.40 Hackney carriage passenger levels at ranks continue to fall – but the 

impact of the pandemic appears marginal in this respect. 2017 flows 

were 16% down on 2012 and 2022 a further 22% down. Interestingly 

the three-rank test in November found overall estimated weekly flows 

down 9% but masking a larger reduction at the station and increases for 

the two central ranks. Thursday and Friday flows were lower overall, but 

central area flows were much higher on the Saturday with rail flows 

even further down (44% down on the Saturday)(not the impact of a rail 

strike). 

Page 56



 
Report page no. 11 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.41 The main rank survey found demand increasing from Thursday to 

Friday to Saturday but that the difference between the latter two days 

was relatively small (just 12% more). Peak flows were 23:00 Saturday 

and then midnight Friday. The level of 200 passengers per hour was 

sustained from 22:00 Friday to 03:00 Saturday and then from 13:00 

Saturday through to 23:00 that day. Demand remains non-peaky. 

3.42 In terms of total vehicle movements, 88% of those observed in the main 

rank activity were hackney carriages. Local private hire were 4% and 

out-of-town vehicles 2%. 3% were private cars. 

3.43 In terms of rank usage, St Andrew’s Street tends to grow in usage 

through the day with an overnight peak whilst the station tends to drop 

in usage as train service levels reduce. Saturday flows are higher than 

Friday. Market Square is a key provider of night demand with the new 

Downing Street rank also making a clear contribution to night demand. 

Thursday demand is similar throughout the day but lower at night, whilst 

both Friday and Saturday both rise to overnight peaks. However, 

demand in Cambridge at this time cannot be considered to be ‘peaky’ 

as there are no significant spikes observed in data collected.  

 

Public Consultations 

3.44 276 people were interviewed in the streets of Cambridge (as in 2017). 

48%  (18% last time) were interviewed near the railway station. With the 

remainder in the shopping streets of the City Centre. 22% of interviews 

were undertaken in mid-October once students had returned (all in city 

centre). 

3.45 The result was 74% said they had used a licensed vehicle in the last 

three months, the same as in 2017. The central area and station 

samples provided similar usage levels.  

3.46 When using frequency levels, 1.4 (2.4 in 2017) trips per month were 

made by licensed vehicle against 1.2 for hackney carriages (same as in 

2017). The station figures suggest 62% (83% in 2017) of licensed 

vehicle trips at the station were made by hackney carriage. For the city 

sample, the proportion by hackney carriage is 85% (was 46%). This 

compares to the quoted level of normal usage from ranks of 47% (37% 

last time), high but less than the frequency based estimate. This still 

Page 57



 
Report page no. 12 Agenda page no. 

 

 

suggests frequency of trips is higher, albeit less than in 2017, with 

those saying they use hackney carriages actually making more trips per 

person. 

3.47 In terms of companies phoned, responses this time suggest 

agglomeration and successful marketing / service for one company. 

This increased the share of mentions to 59% from the 51% who named 

one company last time, with that level being 80% (was 86%) at the 

station. Last time the next companies had 21% and 19%. This time the 

next highest share was 13% with both the companies in second and 

third last time dropping in share – the 21% company fell to fifth and the 

19% disappeared. There was a strong reduction in the numbers naming 

three companies and an increase in those just naming one company, 

usually a sign of satisfaction. 

3.48 People were aware of four active ranks. Within this survey the station 

rank received the most mentions (70%) followed by Drummer Street 

(three names, but totaling 15%), St Andrews Street (13%, less that last 

time), then Market Square. The station respondents gave much less to 

the central area ranks suggesting more demand from the station to non-

central areas rather than into the city for return trips. A lower proportion, 

54% said they used ranks they named (was 73%) but this is still high.   

3.49 The review of service perception found an excellent score with most 

reponses focusing on service being ‘very good’. As is normal around 

the country, price was the worst performing, with some ‘very poor’ 

scores. Top scores are for driver knowledge, state of vehicle repair and 

driver behaviour.  

3.50 In terms of matters that might encourage people to use hackney 

carriages or use them more, 75% said if they were more affordable. 

Next mentions only scored 6% each, for driver quality improvements 

and more hackney carriages at ranks or to hail. The level of people 

saying there was nothing to increase their usage was very low at just 

2%.  

3.51 The level of people saying either that they needed a WAV, or knew 

someone who did, was increased from 2017, rising from a net 5% to 

15%. Most of those needing an adapted vehicle said it would be a full 

WAV style vehicle but with a higher level saying they needed a different 

adaptation not WAV.  

Page 58



 
Report page no. 13 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.52 Latent demand values this time focused on the station, with that value 

being 1.0439 (1.02 last time), 1.049 for all ranks (1.07) and 1.0049 for 

just council ranks (1.05). This reflects other values, showing station 

levels of service have reduced. 

3.53 89% of the public responding to the question (56%) said they thought 

there were enough hackney carriages in Cambridge at this time.  

Stakeholder consultations 

3.54 Several stakeholders were contacted as part of the survey. They 

included, supermarkets, hotels, public houses, and police.  

3.55 The overall response was very low. Many acknowledged receipt of their 

opportunity to respond but provided nothing further. 

3.56 Four responses were received - one of the four being very positive 

about the company they regularly used, the police having no concerns 

or complaints and a representative of the disabled tabling concern over 

vehicle types but giving no detail. 

Taxi Trade Consultations 

3.57 32% of all dual drivers sent letters responded to our invitation, 

exceeding the 22% response from 2017.  

3.58 92% of respondents told us the licensed vehicle trade was their only or 

main source of income. One respondent had left the industry and had 

no intention to return, 2% were not working at the time of survey but 

planned to do so, 2% were part time with no other income and 3% part 

time but with other sources of income. 

3.59 78% of respondents were drivers of hackney carriages, 17% both kinds 

of vehicle and 5% only private hire. 

3.60 In terms of associations, 22% of respondents were with one trade 

group, 7% with another, 6% with a company and 61% without any 

formal allegiances.  

3.61 The days and hours worked suggested people were working marginally 

less hours but over fewer days. Vehicle ownership for the current 

sample was higher and 60% said they accepted pre-bookings of some 

format. Evidence also suggested the top reason for when people 

Page 59



 
Report page no. 14 Agenda page no. 

 

 

worked was family commitment. 7% said they avoided times of 

awkward customers and 11% avoiding heavy traffic times (although this 

was down from a high 32% last time).  

3.62 In terms of ranks, St Andrews Street saw 27% and the Station 26%. 6% 

said Market Square, 5% Parkside and 3% Sidney Street (which one not 

specified).  

3.63 93% felt there were enough hackney carriages at the present time. Key 

benefits of the limit on vehicle numbers were quoted as preventing 

over-ranking and reducing pollution. They also told us it kept the trade 

viable and drivers from working too long hours. 

 

Air Quality and Accessibility Considerations 

3.64 The City has given significant consideration to both accessibility and air 

quality impacts of its hackney carriage and private hire fleet in recent 

years.  

3.65 The DfT guidance suggests that authorities may wish to consider how 

far the vehicle licensing policy can and should support local 

environmental policies that the Licensing Authority may have. 

3.66 The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy currently encourages the 

shift to low emission and zero-emission licenced vehicles.  

3.67 The 2015-25 Air Quality Action Plan includes a strategy to reduce 

polluting emissions to improve poor air quality in Cambridge City and to 

develop taxi licensing policies to transform the vehicle fleet into a low 

emission fleet which will lead to a significant reduction in emissions and 

a significant improvement in air quality, whilst maintaining sufficient 

levels of access and capacity for travel in the City. 

3.68 In support, on 19th  March 2018, Licensing committee Members agreed 

incentives and regulatory policies, which are designed to encourage 

and reward the uptake of Ultra- low emission and electric vehicles 

within the taxi fleet, following consultation.  

3.69 Incentives included full licence fee exemption for zero emission vehicles 

and a 50% discounted fee for Ultra-low emission vehicles (on the basis 

of available funding.   

Page 60



 
Report page no. 15 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.70 Licensing committee members also agreed to reduce the percentage of 

wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) to 50% across the whole fleet in 

order to encourage the uptake of zero emission vehicles. This was 

done by offering current WAV licence holders, the opportunity to trade 

their WAV for an electric vehicle. 50 plates were allocated to this 

incentive.  To date, all available electric plates have been allocated.  

3.71 Within Cambridge City fleet of licenced vehicles, almost all WAVs are 

within the hackney carriage fleet. Which is currently 50% of the HCV 

fleet, at time of writing this report.   

3.72 The latest full DfT statistical survey, undertaken for March 2022, 

covering all English licensing authorities, excluding London, the 

average level of WAV HCV is 40%, with the WAV PHV level at just 4%. 

There are three authorities in England without any hackney carriages at 

all. A further four have no WAV vehicles in their fleet at all, whilst nine 

more have WAV only in their PHV fleets. 58 English authorities have 

fully WAV hackney carriage fleets. The remaining 206 English 

authorities with mixed (WAV and saloon) hackney carriage fleets have 

an average WAV level of 22%.  

3.73 Cambridge is therefore at a higher level with its current 50% of the HCV 

fleet WAV style. Taken in context of mixed fleet authorities, Cambridge 

is 21st highest in terms of the level of WAV proportion of the hackney 

carriage fleet. Listed with all English authorities excluding London, 

including those fully WAV, Cambridge would be in 81st place overall of 

the 280 authorities.  

WAV Rank activity 

3.74 Of the hackney carriage vehicle movements, 34% appeared to be 

wheel chair accessible style vehicles. This is lower than the 50% within 

the fleet suggesting many WAV may not service ranks.  

3.75 The levels of WAV at ranks varied from 20% to 75% with the lowest 

value being that for the Station rank (related to the high proportion of 

saloon vehicles having permits for the station). Downing Street and 

Market Hill had the highest levels (although these could be focussing on 

WAV that had larger capacities to meet demands here). The St 

Andrews Street and Drummer Street feeder locations saw about 53-

Page 61



 
Report page no. 16 Agenda page no. 

 

 

54% of the vehicle observations as WAV style, more in line with the 

proportion in the fleet.  

3.76 During the course of the survey period, 11 records were made of wheel 

chair usage at the ranks. There were six such movements at the Station 

rank, three at St Andrews Street and one each at Sidney Street Boots 

and Bridge Street. 

3.77 There were a further 58 observations at ranks where a person visibly 

appeared disabled and needing assistance. Again, the bulk were at the 

two main ranks with 29 at St Andrews Street and 25 at the Station. The 

balance of three were at the Drummer Street feeder location.  

 
Public survey on WAV availability  

3.78 85% of those interviewed (a very high 95% last time) said they did not 

have, nor knew anyone who did have, any disability that meant they 

needed an adapted vehicle when travelling by licensed vehicle. The 

remaining 15% were split between 11% knowing someone needing a 

WAV and 4% knowing someone needing an adapted vehicle other than 

WAV. This suggests need for adapted vehicles appears to have grown, 

with a focus on WAV style, but not exclusively so. 

Trade views on WAV availability  

3.79 When asked about wheel chair passengers, both in the chair and 

transferring saw higher proportions from bookings and most saying they 

saw such jobs monthly. However, 14% said they got rank wheel chair 

jobs daily. 

Conclusion on Wheelchair accessible vehicle availability 

3.80 Survey results shows there has been an increase in the number of 

people who knew someone who needed an adapted vehicle when 

traveling in a licenced vehicle. Survey also highlights more in depth 

research, listening to those with issues, and possibly training for drivers 

that ensures they keep knowledge of how to help people with 

disabilities at the forefront of their minds. 

 

Standard index of significant unmet demand 

Page 62



 
Report page no. 17 Agenda page no. 

 

 

3.81 An industry standard index of significant unmet demand (ISUD) has 

been developed and used since the initial Government guidance that 

limits could be applied. Early in the process of developing the index, it 

was identified that a cut-off point of 80 was the level beneath which 

unmet demand is not regarded as significant, and that above 80 it 

would be concluded there is significant unmet demand. 

3.82 The ISUD calculations draw from various elements of the rank surveys 

and public consultation exercise. It provides a useful benchmark 

measure of the level of unmet demand that is present.  

3.83 Using all the June data found high and significant levels of unmet 

demand. Both off peak and general delay levels were high, and 

average passenger delay was nearly a minute. However, removing the 

station data brought values to a level of 35 (not significant) 

3.84  The ISUD calculations in Cambridge do not take into account the 

activity at the private railway station rank. This is because the issue of 

permits to operate at the station rank is controlled by the railway 

company on their private land, and outside the control of the City 

Council. The Council has no way to ensure that, if more licences are 

issued the HCVs will be available at this location and hence the 

exclusion from the calculations in this study. However, it is important 

that there is an understanding about what is happening at this location 

as the public rarely differentiate between ranks. 

3.85 The overall conclusion from this is the there is currently no unmet 

demand for hackney carriage in Cambridge City licensing which could 

be seen as significant. 

 

4.       Decisions to be made by Members 

4.1 Following review of this report and the detailed survey undertaken, 

members have a number of decisions to make. These are each 

considered below, and must be determined on the evidence as 

presented. 

4.2 Firstly, members need to determine whether or not they are satisfied 

that there is significant unmet demand;  

4.3 If members are satisfied that there is significant unmet demand then the 

current limit on numbers of HCV must be lifted as per the legislation 

Page 63



 
Report page no. 18 Agenda page no. 

 

 

requirements. This means that no limit can be imposed and it is 

removed entirely. 

4.4 If members are instead satisfied that there is no significant unmet 

demand, then there are four possible options 

 To remove entirely the current limit on number of HCV licences. 

This would be a change in policy and an implementation date 

would need to be agreed. 

 To retain the limit at the level currently licensed of 321. This would 

be a pragmatic approach, allowing the retention of existing 

licences. 

 To set the limit at a level lower than the current number of 

licences. If this reduction is greater 321 than in order to reduce the 

number of licences, natural wastage would be required, as and 

when licences are surrendered, as the only practical way of 

achieving this, over an indeterminate period. 

 To set the limit at a number greater than the current number of 

HCV licences. As Members will have determined, by this point, 

that there is no unmet demand that is significant then increasing 

the numbers may be inappropriate because it will have been 

accepted that there are currently enough HCVs available. 

4.5 In making the above decisions, Members should give full reasons for 

their decisions, which are based on the evidence before them. 

Potential Advantages and Disadvantages of Limit Options 

4.6 Potential Benefits of retaining the current limit 

 It may assist in limiting the perception that there is little road 

space for vehicles to wait in the central area 

 It may halt the trend towards working longer hours and assist in 

improving passenger and driver safety 

 Driver focus could be on developing the current customer base 

rather than fighting with each other for trade 

 Potential improvement in air quality with the reduction of further 

HCVs travelling in the City 

 Retaining the limit would be supported by the existing cohort of 

hackney carriage drivers of licensed vehicles 

4.7 Potential Disadvantages of retaining the current limit 

Page 64



 
Report page no. 19 Agenda page no. 

 

 

 Retaining limit may create a market for vehicle licences which 

would not, necessarily, be in the public interest. 

 It may reduce the opportunity for drivers to become plate owners 

 There may be a lack of competition between those operating the 

licensed vehicles which may lead to a fall in standards 

4.8 Potential Benefits of imposing unlimited numbers 

 It would provide more choice for employment and give 

opportunities for taxi drivers to become plate owners. 

 Potential for a more effective service to the public. 

 With a reduced bus service to and from the City during the 

evening, the policy could contribute towards a significant 

proportion of the community’s needs and enhance the night-time 

economy 

4.9 Potential Disadvantages of imposing unlimited numbers 

 It may be necessary to take enforcement action on over ranking at 

the Drummer Street rank.  

 The issue of safety arising from continued increase of working 

hours by drivers would be relevant as there will be increased 

competition for work. 

 Potential increase in air pollution due to increase in vehicles 

Cambridge City Decision-Making Process 

4.10 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000 define whether responsibility for Council functions 

rests with the Executive or with the full Council. Regulation 2 and 

Schedule 2 state that the power to license hackney carriages and 

private hire vehicles shall not be exercised by the Council’s Executive. 

This licensing function (which includes imposing a limit on numbers) is 

what is often referred to as a “regulatory function”. 

4.11 The Council has delegated responsibility for most of its regulatory 

functions to committees. The scheme of delegation in the Council’s 

Constitution places responsibility for this function with the Licensing 

Committee. The Council has not reserved any aspect of this function to 

itself and therefore the Committee is entitled to make decisions on the 

matters raised in this report. In the event of a tied vote, the Chair has a 

casting vote. 

Page 65



 
Report page no. 20 Agenda page no. 

 

 

4.12 If the Committee is unwilling or unable to take a final decision, it may 

decide to refer the matter to Civic Affairs (for decision or reference on to 

full Council) or direct to Council. The matter shall also be referred to 

Civic Affairs Committee (for decision or reference on to full Council) on 

the request of the committee spokesperson for a political group, or on 

the request of any two other members. 

4.13 Members should give full reasons for decisions made in respect of this 

report. 

5. Implications 

(a) Financial Implications 

None 

(b) Staffing Implications 

None 

 (c) Equality and Poverty Implications 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out as Appendix B  

(d) Environmental Implications 

None 

(e) Procurement Implications 

None 

(f) Community Safety Implications 

None 

6. Consultation and communication considerations 

6.1   The survey consulted with members of the public, stakeholders and the 

trade. It also consulted with disability groups.  

7. Background Papers 

Law Commission Taxi and Private Hire Services (2014) 

http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/03/lc347_taxi-and-private-hire-

services.pdf 

Department of Transport Best Practice Guidance 2010 

Index of Significance unmet demand calculations 

Page 66

http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/03/lc347_taxi-and-private-hire-services.pdf
http://www.lawcom.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/03/lc347_taxi-and-private-hire-services.pdf


 
Report page no. 21 Agenda page no. 

 

 

8. Appendices 

. 
(A)  LVSA Demand Survey 2023 

(B) EQiA 

9. Inspection of papers 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please 

contact Wangari Njiiri, Environmental Health and Licensing Support Team 

Leader, tel: 01223 - 453833, email: Wangari.njiiri@cambridge.gov.uk 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cambridge City 
Hackney carriage demand survey 

January 2023 
Page 69



  

Page 70



 

 

i Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This Hackney carriage demand survey has been undertaken on behalf of 
Cambridge City Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best 
Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet 
demand. This Executive Summary provides the outline of the research 
undertaken. However, it should not be relied on without reference to the 
detailed document that follows. 

This Report provides documentation of the survey undertaken by LVSA based 
on your Brief, our responding proposal and confirmation of instructions as 
received at our Inception Meeting in June 2022. On street interviews were in 
Summer plus some in October, principal rank observations in June with a 
smaller seasonal test (with all students back) in October, driver consultation 
through the Summer and key stakeholder contact throughout the course of 
the survey. The full report is documentation of the range of evidence collected 
to review the present application of a limit on the number of hackney carriage 
vehicles currently operating under the City licensing regulations. 

The survey was undertaken in the context of the area being one of growth, 
strong pro-sustainable transport policies but also focussed on the Greater 
Cambridge including South Cambridgeshire whose vehicles also provide 
service to people particularly those travelling in the wider Cambridge area. It 
is also in the context of The Transport Strategy for Cambridge and South 
Cambridgeshire (TSCSC). At present it is likely charges might appear in 
2027/28 at the earliest, and plans to charge non-private vehicles, including 
both hackney carriage and private hire, are part of the consultation outcome. 

The City had a period when there was no limit on hackney carriage vehicle 
numbers. This had two impacts – a reduction of private hire vehicle numbers 
as well as a strong increase in the level of the hackney carriage fleet which 
was wheel chair accessible. The City-based fleet is hence dominated by 
hackney carriages although a lot of South Cambridgeshire and out of town 
vehicles now supplement the private hire offer people experience in the area, 
meaning the balance of hackney carriage and private hire is not perhaps as 
dominant as the fleet might suggest. 

The wheel chair accessible vehicles focus on the hackney carriage fleet with a 
current level of 50% lower than the peak of 70% achieved, although this is 
still a level which suggests some grandfather rights vehicles have actually 
chosen to be wheel chair accessible.  

Page 71



 

 

ii Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Present provision for customers with disabilities was set at a high level in the 
recent Taxi Policy and Handbook to a level at least equalling that required by 
the more recent permissive enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the Equality 
Act.  

A full rank observation programme of in a typical period in June was 
supplemented by a supplementary observation of the three main ranks over a 
weekend in early November. Estimates from the principal June surveys suggest 
the private station rank provides 63% of all passengers (up from 49% in the 
last survey). St Andrew’s Street provides 22% (down from 28%) and Market 
Square 12%. The station rank is yet again even more dominant now than in 
the last surveys in 2017, a trend on going since 2012, although overall demand 
appears to be reduced from both the 2017 and 2012 levels despite overall 
reduced station patronage following the pandemic (2012 to 2017 lost 16% and 
2017 to 2022 lost 22%). 

Considering ranks at a high level review, covering all operational hours during 
the June survey period, 34% of available rank hours saw no activity, 9% of 
hours were hindered by parked vehicles and 43% of rank hours were counted 
as being ‘busy’. The remaining 14% were ‘quiet’ hours, seeing up to two 
vehicle movements in any hour. Downing Street is the worst location for 
vehicle abuse that hinders operation and public safety. 

On the busiest June survey day 51% (down from 74% in last survey) of the 
fleet were observed active. However, the highest proportion seen in any one 
time period was 16%. Overall, this suggests a good proportion of the fleet may 
not yet be fully active following the pandemic. Based on our sample 
observations there were suggestions for example that no more than 100 of the 
170 vehicles that had station permits were observed although many may just 
not have worked on that particular day. 

The public told us 74% had used licensed vehicles in the area in the last three 
months. There were about 1.4 licensed vehicle trips per person per month with 
the value 1.2 for those using hackney carriages.  

In terms of companies, the share of the top company had grown demonstrating 
successful marketing / service and possibly agglomeration for one company 
with the second and third companies quoted having a lot smaller share now. 
The third highest quoted company in 2017 was not mentioned at all now with 
the second most quoted in 2017 now fifth. The level of people quoting three 
companies was reduced with a strong growth in those quoting one, usually a 
sign of high satisfaction levels. 

Four ranks were quoted with the station most popular followed by Drummer 
Street, St Andrews Street and Market Street.  

Page 72



 

 

iii Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Levels of public perception of the service provided were excellent. Top scores 
were for driver knowledge, state of vehicle repair and driver behaviour, 
matters worth reporting to the general public.  

The level of those saying they needed some form of adapted vehicle had 
increased to 15% from the 5% of 2017. The highest proportion needing an 
adapted vehicle favoured WAV but there were some others saying they needed 
an alternative style. 

Latent demand levels have changed since 2017. The all-rank value has reduced 
from 1.07 to 1.049 mainly as a result of the council rank value reducing from 
1.05 to 1.0049. However, the station value has increased from 1.02 to 1.0439 
– these values suggest service at the station has for some reason declined in 
peoples’ minds by them giving up waiting more there than in the city centre. 

The net impact of COVID either from pre-COVID to now or from now forwards 
was not significant in peoples’ expected usage of both kinds of licensed vehicle. 
89% overall still felt there were enough hackney carriages in Cambridge at this 
time.  

As typical around the country at this time there was little key stakeholder 
response, with one giving positive views of their serving private hire company, 
another not receiving complaints and one concern raised about vehicle types 
to serve those with disabilities that provided no further information on detail. 

The level of response from local drivers increased from the 22% of last time 
to 32% this survey. 92% said the licensed vehicle trade was their only or main 
source of income and 78% were hackney carriage drivers. 61% were not allied 
to any trade group.  

Overall, drivers were working slightly less total hours but definitely over less 
days. Top two ranks used were St Andrew Street 27% and the station 26%. 
93% felt there were enough hackney carriages and key benefits of the present 
limit were quoted as being preventing over-ranking and keeping pollution 
down. A viable trade and less need to work longer hours were also quoted. 

Jobs involving wheel chair usage, both in the chair and transferring tended to 
be infrequent but more frequent from bookings than ranks although 14% did 
say they got daily wheel chair jobs. 

The conclusion of the industry standard test of significance of observed unmet 
demand was initially high levels for this survey. However, these were focussed 
at the station and when those observations were removed the index reduced 
to 35, which is not significant. This is a valid conclusion as the council cannot 
add extra plates and have any opportunity they would service the station as a 
separate permit is needed.  

Page 73



 

 

iv Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Remarkably despite strong impacts of the pandemic a lot of matters and 
general statistics have remained remarkably similar, and trends such as 
reducing levels of hackney carriage usage have continued. At this time one 
fifth of all arriving passengers at Cambridge station leave by hackney carriage 
from the rank. However, for some reason various pointers suggest that service 
at the station has deteriorated since the last survey.  

The principal conclusion is that the limit can currently be retained based on 
levels of service to the ranks under the influence of the City. Benefit would also 
be gained from making known to the public how much the current service is 
appreciated.  

There are hints that there exists need for integrated committee / officer / trade 
/ disability representative work to better match customer and trade 
expectations and delivery in this respect. 

The Council can further assist development by using the new map of ranks to 
promote the current set of rank locations.  

 

Page 74



 

 

v Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................        i 

Contents ........................................................................       v 

1 General introduction and background ...........       1 

2 Local background and context ..........................       9 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)   193 

4 General public views .............................................    31 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................    37 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................    41 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance  47 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions    53 

9 Recommendations .................................................    60 

 

Page 75



Page left intentionally blank  

Page 76



 

 

1 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
Cambridge City is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing authority 
for this complete area. It retains a limit on the number of hackney carriage 
vehicles licensed. Further historical detail of the specific local application is 
provided in subsequent chapters. This is the only part of licensing where such 
a stipulation occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire 
vehicle numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the 
number of private hire operators can be limited.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 
within the legal frameworks set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847. This has 
been amended by various following legislation including the Transport Act 
1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, and by the Local 
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference to private hire 
vehicles and operations. Many of the aspects of these laws have been tested 
and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly through 
case law. Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends 
to see both hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term 
we will try for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the 
report. We will use the term ‘licensed vehicles’ to refer to both hackney 
carriage and private hire. 

The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of 
many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 
practice and against natural economic trends. The three most recent reviews 
were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through the production of the BPG 
in 2010, and the Law Commission review which published its results in 2014. 
None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved in 
licensing. 

 

 

Page 77



 

 

2 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The upshot of all these reviews in respect of the principal subject of this survey 
is that local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of hackney 
carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusions included retention 
of the power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public 
interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- 
year horizon also be used for rank reviews and accessibility reviews. However, 
both this response, and that to the House of Commons review that followed, 
are now all wrapped up in the consultation on revising the full BPG document 
whose publish date remains unconfirmed. 
 
Unmet Demand Industry Standard Tool 
After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 
Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated 
and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken 
forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index 
of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry 
standard tool to be used for this purpose. Some revisions have been made 
following the few but specific court cases where various parties have 
challenged the policy of retaining a limit. Some of the application has differed 
between Scottish and English licensing authority’s due to some court cases in 
Scotland taking interpretation of the duty of the licensing authority further 
than is usual in England and Wales. 

DfT current requirements 
The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 
Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). 
 
The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 
hailing and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

 

 

 

Page 78



 

 

3 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have been 
enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs (sections 
168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the Deregulation Act 
which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of period each license 
covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across borders (enacted in 
October 2015), and most recently enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the 
Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see below). 2022 saw two further 
Acts added to Royal Assent – the “Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles 
(Safeguarding and Road Safety Act) (31 March 2022)” and the “Taxis and 
Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) (28 June 2022)”. 

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting 
Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles capable 
of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council (section 
167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under section 165 
to:  

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 
- Not make any additional charge for doing so 
- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel 

chair 
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 

carried in safety and reasonable comfort  
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

This was enacted from April 2017.  

The two new 2022 Acts make small but significant changes. The first makes it 
mandatory for any licensing authority in England that has information about a 
taxi or phv driver licensed by another authority that is relevant to safeguarding 
or road safety concerns in its area to share that information with the authority 
that issued that drivers licence, whilst the second amends the Equality Act to 
place duties on taxi and phv drivers and operators such that any disabled 
person has specific rights and protections to be transported and receive 
assistance when using a taxi or phv without being charged extra. 

Unmet demand case history 
In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

 

Page 79



 

 

4 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 
from rank locations).  

Deliberation of overall taxi policy and national current context 
During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on taxis produced 
its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for revision 
to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for local 
authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made within the 
Report. However, the Report has no legislative backing and the key conclusion 
was that the Government needed to act firstly to revise the 2010 BPG but then 
to move to revisions to primary legislation as soon as practicable. Despite some 
opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits on hackney 
carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also supporting adding a 
tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited where appropriate, 
given reasonable explanation of the expected public interest gains. 

During the early part of 2022, the Department for Transport opened a 
consultation on revising the remainder of the Best Practice Guidance 2010 not 
amended by the issue of the “Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards” (STPHVS) in July 2020. This consultation ran through April, May 
and June 2022 but has not yet seen any response from the DfT. It included 
suggestion of need for rank review and accessibility review on a similar three-
year time frame to that retained for demand surveys. However, apart from 
general comments again discouraging regulation, no change to the 
requirements for or regarding unmet demand studies was envisaged.  

Present situation and developing challenges 
In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers.  

These are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait at 
ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire who 
can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any passenger 
uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, they are not 
insured for their journey. 

Page 80



 

 

5 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Drivers can either be split between ability to drive either hackney carriage or 
private hire, or be ‘dual’, allowed to drive either kind of vehicle (or in some 
cases a mixed set of conditions, e.g. hackney carriage drivers being able to 
drive either whilst private hire cannot drive hackney carriage). Whilst a private 
hire driver can only take bookings via an operator, with the ‘triple-lock’ 
applying that the vehicle, driver and operator must all be with the same 
authority, a hackney carriage driver can accept bookings on-street or by phone 
without the same stipulation required for private hire.  

For Cambridge, there remain a small number of hackney carriage and private 
hire only drivers’ licences but the bulk of the drivers have opted to take dual 
licences allowing them to drive whichever kind of vehicle is most appropriate 
to their needs. 

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 
use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 
hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 
as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 
Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 
other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 
the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 
operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 
protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 
call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 
many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 
authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 
used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 
‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 
with present legislation. This continues to be debated with the key issue being 
if obtaining a vehicle using an app (most of which rely on proximity to choose 
a vehicle) is a pre-booking or not, given the often minimal time between the 
person making known their need on the app and a vehicle meeting that need. 

Over the last few years, from before the pandemic, pressure on licensing 
authorities to work with the environmental sections of their authorities in order 
to assist in the reduction of vehicle emission issues within Government 
guidelines has developed. 

 

 

Page 81



 

 

6 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Whilst there are a number of authorities now mandated to introduce Clean Air 
Zones, other authorities presently do not have such stipulation although there 
remains strong pressure on health grounds to take action. Given that many 
hackney carriages, and particularly the larger ones including those that are 
wheelchair accessible, were diesel vehicles for practical operational reasons 
(petrol engines often could not deal with the size and weight needed), which 
are now seen as the more critical contributors to the worst elements of air 
pollution, often there is strong pressure to see reduced emissions from the 
overall licensed vehicle fleet. A Greater-Manchester wide review of clean air is 
currently on hold, pending agreement of a new Direction by Government and 
it appears that other clean air developments are also being put back. It is only 
during 2022 that non-diesel based wheel chair accessible vehicles have begun 
to appear more widely, although even this development has been hampered 
by company issues of various kinds. Nonetheless, some areas have introduced 
schemes improving air quality and also including their licensed vehicle fleets 
within the development. Bath was at the forefront of these changes. 

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 
therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

Coronavirus 
The serious Covid-19 virus took hold in the UK during March 2020. Whilst life 
carried on almost as normal until mid-March, formal lockdown was applied 
from Tuesday 24th March 2020 until further notice. Significant reductions in 
movement had begun to bite from the previous week. The last dates in 2020 
when on-street and rank surveys occurred were effectively Sunday 16th March 
2020.  

The lockdown began to be eased on 13th May 2020 with people encouraged to 
return to work if they were not able to work from home. Restrictions on outdoor 
exercise, golf courses, tennis courses and socialising at distance, with restart 
of construction also allowed. From 15th June, bars, restaurants and 
hairdressers were allowed to return to a ‘new normal’. The next wave of 
easement occurred on 4th July 2020. 

However, a range of different re-restrictions were applied in various locations 
as cases began to rise again. Schools were re-opened in September, but a new 
‘rule of six’ was introduced shortly after reducing the ability of people to 
socialise as rates of infection rose again, together with a 22:00 close time for 
all hospitality venues. In general, new restrictions tended to be introduced with 
a few days lead in but this ended with a new lockdown from Thursday 5th 
November ending on Wednesday 2nd December that year. 

Page 82



 

 

7 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

After that, new Tiers were introduced and then again another national 
lockdown from early January 2021 but with the start of vaccinations providing 
some hope of an eventual overcoming of the impacts of the virus. 

As levels of vaccination increased and infection / hospitalisations and deaths 
reduced, a new road out of lockdown was announced and implemented. The 
final stage, removal of most English restrictions, was delayed about a month 
but was finally instigated towards the end of July 2021. The Government focus 
has since then been on ‘coping with the virus’ although as Winter has 
progressed infection levels have tended to move upwards.  

Later in Winter 2021 appearance of a new variant led to further concern and 
encouragement to partake in a booster vaccination programme as well as 
taking further care about interaction. Mask wearing was returned to being a 
legal requirement at the start of December 2021 in many, but not all of the 
previous circumstances. The situation around Christmas 2021 was very tense. 
Working from home was reinstated towards the end of 2021. 

Early 2021 saw more confidence that the ‘omicron wave’ could be survived 
although in early January there was pressure on many industries arising from 
staff isolating. Various methods were being considered to minimise the impact 
of need to self-isolate. By the end of February all legal restrictions in England 
were removed with the focus clearly moving to ‘living with the virus’ although 
unintended consequences of rising fuel and other prices from the reopening of 
the economy were also exacerbated by the current issue of the Ukraine 
occupation. At the time of writing this report (early September 2022) there 
was a high level of infection but the link between infection and serious illness 
appeared to have been broken, although the need to keep levels of immunity 
to severe disease may well lead to further immunisation as time proceeds. 
Another booster injection was starting to be rolled out. 

Overall, the pandemic led to a significant period of lack of business for both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, in various ways as the pandemic 
developed. Some of the impacts of this are discussed in public and driver 
attitude chapters below, as well as review of impact on demand in the rank 
chapter. More significant was the reappraisal of many as to their involvement 
with the industry, and the general job market churn that was instigated not 
just in the taxi arena. In many areas there is clear knowledge that many who 
planned to retire brought that date forward whilst others found that the 
certainty of income from delivery driving was preferable to the vagaries of taxi 
passenger demand. Yet others found the shortage of private hire drivers meant 
more requirement on hackney carriages in the daytime, in turn meaning they 
could earn more in the week, and not be reliant on servicing less-preferable 
customers in the early hours of Saturday and Sunday.  

Page 83



 

 

8 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

A further issue we have observed is that even pubs, restaurants and night 
venues are now reducing their opening hours or days in reaction to rising costs 
and staff shortages. This can lead to taxi demand in an area becoming peaky 
or peakier with such change. Further, most commercial operators now tend to 
focus on customer service but away from widespread engagement with anyone 
other than their direct customers. 

Further, the impacts of the developing war in Ukraine and other economic 
changes partly arising from Brexit is again putting pressure on costs of 
providing licensed vehicle services.  Rising fuel prices have also added to the 
issues. The days when the main aim of a demand survey was checking if 
passenger demand had changed to see if supply remained sufficient have now 
been replaced by a much wider research need to identify both demand and 
supply side changes. Even long-standing areas with limited hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers have been impacted by having spare hackney carriage vehicle 
licences available for the first time in decades.   

Page 84



 

 

9 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
Key dates for this Hackney carriage demand survey for Cambridge City are: 

- appointed LVSA at the end of May 2022  
- in accordance with our proposal of April 2022 
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 1 June 

2022 
- this survey was carried out between June and November 2022 
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in August with a sub-sample 

undertaken in mid-October to capture returned students 
- the video rank observations occurred in June and November 2022 with 

the latter covering the busiest three ranks and reviewing impact of the 
student population on these 

- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed 
during July and August 2022 by an all-trade questionnaire 

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey 
- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client during December 

2022 
- and reported to the appropriate Council committee following. 

The City of Cambridge 
Cambridge City is one of five district councils within the county of 
Cambridgeshire. The City has a current population of 145,700 from the initial 
estimates from the 2021 census (rising from the 125,900 for 2017 estimates 
currently available from the 2011 census). This is a large 16% increase since 
the previous study estimates. A key different factor about Cambridge is that it 
is surrounded tightly by the South Cambridgeshire hinterland which is a 
separate licensing authority. Levels of cycling are very high, as are levels of 
commuting given the two key rail routes to London. The authority also services 
a much wider hinterland beyond pure City borders. 

In terms of background council policy, Cambridge City has transport planning 
principally led by the County. Their developments have included the St Ives 
Busway project, a key section of which runs through and south of the City 
centre near to the rail station. A very strong pro-bus / pro-sustainable 
transport policy has long been in place, supported by a strong 
pedestrianisation of the central core, which has no car access between 10:00 
and 16:00.  

The Transport Strategy for Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire (TSCSC) was 
adopted by Cambridgeshire County Council on 4 March 2014 and ensures that 
local councils plan together for sustainable growth and continued economic 
prosperity in the area. 
 

Page 85



 

 

10 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

It is predicted that approximately 44,000 new jobs and 33,000 new homes will 
be created in Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire by 2031. The strategy will 
provide a plan to cope with the rising population and increase in demand on 
our travel network by shifting people from cars to other means of travel 
including cycling, walking and public transport.  
 
This success brings prosperity and growth for the local and national economy, 
but also places pressure on the transport network. Forecast growth is expected 
to create 26,000 more daily car journeys over the next decade (Up to 2031). 
Congestion is already a major and growing problem, threatening mobility, 
health and well-being and detracting from the appeal of Cambridge, for 
residents, employees, businesses and visitors alike. Cambridge is currently the 
16th most congested city in the country. During 2019, people spent an average 
of 71 hrs driving time in congestion. 
 
Over the last ten years, traffic levels have increased by 10% and Cambridge’s 
peak AM and PM periods, when the city experiences highest traffic volumes 
and worst congestion, have lengthened by up to 2.5 hours. Poor air quality is 
a concern in some areas and contributes to 106 deaths annually across Greater 
Cambridge. High levels of car use mean carbon emissions per capita in 
Cambridgeshire are 150% of the national average. 
 
Greater Cambridge attracts people to work from a wide area, but many people 
have no good alternative to their car and are held back from accessing 
opportunities by a lack of viable public transport or walking and cycling 
connections. To reduce congestion, improve air quality and reduce carbon 
emissions and create a more sustainable network for the future, we need 
significantly more people travelling by public transport, cycling and walking 
and significantly fewer people travelling by car. The Greater Cambridge 
Partnership (GCP) has a plan to make that happen by giving people better 
choices to travel sustainably. 
 
In May 2020, a Government ‘Gateway review’ hailed ‘significant success and 
progress’ the Partnership has made since 2015 on ambitious plans ranging 
from city cycleways to better public transport routes to transform travel for 
thousands of people. The successful release of a further £200m brings City 
Deal funding totalling up to £300m to continue delivery of GCP’s sustainable 
travel programme to tackle building transport pressures and transform the way 
we travel. 
 
The GCP’s programme aims to deliver a public transport and infrastructure 
network for the future, supporting sustainable and inclusive growth by creating 
new and improved infrastructure for better, greener journeys. 

Page 86



 

 

11 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

This commitment is brought into sharper focus by the impacts of Covid-19 and 
plans reflect the GCP’s shared commitment to support communities and 
businesses. As communities continue to recover and grow in line with the 
area’s Local Plan, sustainable transport options remain vital to access work, 
study and other opportunities the city has to offer – whether using public 
transport, cycling or walking. The City Deal offers a once-in-a-generation 
opportunity to fund improvements with real impact over the next decade and 
beyond. The GCP’s programme will support the area to emerge stronger from 
the crisis and helps deliver a green recovery. 
 
Vision for a Future Network 

The GCP’s Future Network Map 2030 presents a vision for substantially 
enhanced infrastructure over the next decade, forming a cohesive network 
throughout the Greater Cambridge area and further afield. This enhanced 
infrastructure facilitates a Future Bus Network, the GCP’s vision for a 
transformed public transport network, giving more people the choice of 
attractive sustainable transport journeys by better serving employment and 
existing, new and growing residential areas. 
 
The GCP’s four corridor schemes connect new and growing communities 
outside the city with key employment hubs. Cambourne to Cambridge, 
Waterbeach to Cambridge, Cambridge Eastern and Cambridge South East are 
offering better public transport and active travel routes along four corridors 
identified as essential to link growing communities to the north, south east, 
east and west. The schemes form an integral part of the GCP’s vision for a 
Future Bus Strategy. 
 
Making Connections A City Access Scheme public consultation was 
completed on 23rd December 2022. The proposal in the consultation stated 
that from a as early as mid-2023 the proposal is to transform the bus network 
through more services to more locations, with cheaper fares capped at £1/£2.  
Alongside the bus network, we are proposing more investment in new 
sustainable travel schemes, such as better walking and cycling links. From 
2027/28, there is a proposal to introduce a Sustainable Travel Zone in the form 
of a road user charge on behalf of Cambridgeshire County Council as the 
Highway Authority. Vehicles would pay to drive into the Zone at certain times. 
The Zone would be phased in from 2025, after the first bus improvements are 
introduced. There would be discounts, exemptions and reimbursements for 
some including those on low incomes, blue badge holders and possibly taxis. 
 
 

Page 87



 

 

12 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The present Air Quality Action Plan Theme 1 is ‘reduced emissions from taxis’. 
(it should be noted that the term ‘taxi’ in this context means both hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles). Measures include items as follows: 

46 – Clean Air Zone 
48 – Installation of taxi only rapid charge points 
55 – licensing conditions to require low emission taxis 
54 – fee reductions for low emission taxis 
 
Item 46 will need to be reviewed in light of the outcome of the consultation on 
Making Connections. The target is a 100% electric or ultra low hybrid taxi fleet 
by 2028. South Cambridgeshire have also introduced a similar policy. The taxi 
only rapid charge points have been fully funded from a range of sources. 17 
rapid charge points have been installed with a further 4 will be installed by 
April 2023 totally 21 rapid charge points for exclusive use of taxis. 
 
The City Councils taxi policy has required all HCV since 1999 to be WAV. 
However, to support the air quality action plan, it was agreed by members that 
50 WAV plates could be traded in for Electric vehicles. This would still leave 
50% of the HCV fleet as WAV.  
 
Concerns have been expressed by disability passengers that there is lack of 
availability for WAV when needed. However further investigation has indicated 
it is not a lack of vehicles but lack of drivers to take these bookings.  
  
Extent of Licensing Authority Powers 
The nature of the authority means that rank provision is principally via the 
County Council, with the City having input, but not full control of the traffic 
regulation orders required. 

All licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles, drivers 
and operators serving people within their area. Cambridge City has chosen to 
utilize its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers, this was 
reintroduced in January 2015 and is kept under review every 3 years. 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 
comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. 

Page 88



 

 

13 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

The graph above demonstrates the growth of hackney carriages in the area of 
some 173% since the start of formal DfT records in 1994. However, most of 
this growth was up to 2011, after which there was a drop in numbers, with a 
plateau reached not long after sustained until the impact of the pandemic. At 
that point, numbers fell 7% although there has been some recovery since, 
back to around 2014 levels.  

 

 

120 125
147

175

235
257

282
298 302 303 293

266

309
324 327 323 323 319 319

296 305 308
281

352
325

236
209

135

199 197
211 217

179 179 178
153 154 146

131 134
104 99 95

406

499 500
471 466

417

497 499
514 510

445

488
502

480 477 469
450 453

400 404 403

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Cambridge licensed vehicles and drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

Page 89



 

 

14 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Private hire vehicles are just 27% of the level they were in 1999. A high 
proportion of the reduction appears to be transfers to hackney carriage during 
the period of no limit on numbers, although numbers were growing from 2007 
to 2012, after which they have gently declined to the current level. The 
pandemic saw one year of larger decline, and they are now less than 100 in 
number. There is also an element in the decline accounted for by many working 
for South Cambridgeshire and operating in the City although it is hard to 
attribute the split between moving to hackney carriage and to other licensing 
areas. What is clear is that Cambridge City registered private hire vehicles are 
a very small part of the total licensed vehicle fleet of the City itself, and even 
less so when the active fleet servicing the City (including other authority 
vehicles) is considered.  

Whilst this apparently mirrors hackney carriage growth, the impact of some 
vehicles transferring to out-of-town operation may also have had some impact, 
particularly with many vehicles operating under South Cambridgeshire 
licensing. The graph also clearly shows that, in terms of Cambridge City 
licensed vehicles, hackney carriage are dominant, and outnumber private hire 
by more than three to one. However, as already noted a lot of vehicles have 
over time tended to work in the City but have South Cambridgeshire licences 
(partly reflecting the fact that a lot of trips from that hinterland are in any 
event to Cambridge, and partly reflecting different licensing conditions). 

In terms of driver numbers, the transfer of vehicles to hackney carriage saw a 
similar transfer of drivers. However, more recently, dual driver badges have 
been issued and most have transferred across to these. The latest Council 
statistics suggest 534 drivers exist for 403 vehicles across the total licensed 
vehicle fleet of the City, suggesting a good proportion of potential for vehicle 
sharing by drivers. Just seven of these drivers remain only able to drive either 
hackney carriage or private hire.  

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel 
chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases 
the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than 
those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private 
hire being wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of 
the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, 
licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all.  

Page 90



 

 

15 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

For Cambridge City based vehicles, almost all wheel chair accessible are those 
within the hackney carriage fleet. The present level of 52% is much lower than 
that at the peak (70%) but is still a very high value for a mixed fleet, although 
this has predominantly been achieved by the period when all new hackney 
carriages had to be wheel chair accessible. There are a handful of similar 
vehicles in the private hire fleet, but this proportion has reduced more recently 
to just a single vehicle. 

Operator numbers have tended to be relatively stable over some time. 
Numbers grew marginally from 2018 to a level retained since.  

 

 

 

 

8

14

41 41

53

59
62 62 62 62

70 69
65 65 65 66

53
50 52 50 52

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Cambridge - operators and % WAV in 
fleets

Operators % hcv WAV % phv WAV

Page 91



 

 

16 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of the latest full DfT statistical survey, undertaken for March 2022, 
covering all English licensing authorities, excluding London, the average level 
of WAV hcv is 40%, with the WAV phv level at just 4%. There are three 
authorities in England without any hackney carriages at all. A further four have 
no WAV vehicles in their fleet at all, whilst nine more have WAV only in their 
phv fleets. 58 English authorities have fully WAV hackney carriage fleets. The 
remaining 206 English authorities with mixed (WAV and saloon) hackney 
carriage fleets have an average WAV level of 22%.  

Cambridge is therefore at a much higher level with its current 52% of the hcv 
fleet WAV style. Taken in context of mixed fleet authorities, Cambridge is 21st 

highest in terms of the level of WAV proportion of the hackney carriage fleet. 
Listed with all English authorities excluding London, including those fully WAV, 
Cambridge would be in 81st place overall of the 280 authorities. Taken in 
context, if all was equal, people in Cambridge would tend to find every other 
hackney carriage was WAV style. 

We understand that 121 vehicle plate numbers would retain grandfather rights 
to be saloon style. However, of these, there are now only 110 licensed and the 
other 11 plates have therefore lost their protected status given that they do 
not exist per se. 

There is a further complication within the current Cambridge operation in that 
the station rank requires a supplementary permit. We have been advised that 
there are 170 such permit holders, or 55% of the fleet. It is understood that 
the bulk of the 110 grandfather rights saloon vehicles have station permits and 
tend to focus operation at the station. This means a higher proportion of WAV 
style vehicles will tend to be found in the city centre. Our full survey found 
20% WAV in the station vehicles (was 32% in last survey) but 54% of the St 
Andrew’s Street vehicles WAV (was 78%); with the value for the station higher 
in the November test (26%), but up to 80% at St Andrew’s Street. 

Reviews of Limit Policy 
Cambridge City undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. There had been surveys in at least 1992, 
1995 and 1999, with the limit removed in favour of new vehicles having to be 
wheel chair accessible in 2001. Further surveys were carried out in 2012 and 
2014, the latter which led to re-application of the limit in January 2015. A 
further survey was carried out in 2017, in which no unmet demand of any 
significance was observed and the decision was therefore made to retain the 
limit. There were plans to review limit in 2020, however due to the Covid-19 
pandemic it was put on hold as it was not an appropriate time to complete.  
 

Page 92



 

 

17 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Ironically the figures seem to suggest that the period between the first 
thoughts about reintroducing a limit and the actual final application of this led 
to about at 10% higher level of hackney carriages during that period – 
immediately before which numbers had reduced from their peak. 

  

Page 93



 

 

18 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

  

Page 94



 

 

19 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 
Cambridge City is principally under the auspices of the County Council who has 
overall highway powers for the full City area. 

Our rank methodology involves a current review both in advance of submitting 
our proposal to undertake this hackney carriage demand survey and at the 
study inception meeting, together with site visits where considered necessary. 
This provides a valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage which is 
important to feed the numeric evaluation of the level of unmet demand, and 
its significance (see discussion in Chapter 7).  

A map of ranks, provided by the Council, is below: 

 

Page 95



 

 

20 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of change since the last survey, there has been little real change. The 
former Station Road rank no longer exists and the new station arrangements 
are now well-established. 

Other ranks remain the same as they were, with the feeder system for St 
Andrew’s Street main rank still supplemented by drivers using mobile phone 
messaging to move between this rank and the main location due to reduced 
trust in the call-on system.  

Those in the central area are night only given the full daytime pedestrian 
system. The ranks added in 2017 remain in place although neither the new 
Corn Exchange rank nor the St Andrew’s Street Hobson House rank saw any 
usage in our surveys at this time. 

The trade refers to key ranks using a colour code: 
- Yellow – St Andrews Street / Christ’s College rank 
- Red – Drummer Street feeder 
- White – Parkside 
- Black – station. 

 
Variation in demand 
The council were keen to understand how demand varied over time at key 
ranks. The only way to undertake this is by observation of activity at each rank 
for sample periods of time. It was agreed this time to undertake the main 
survey of rank operation during June with a supplementary 72-hour 
observation of the three busiest ranks once University students had returned 
and were established (in November). The 2017 survey saw two 48-hour 
observations in June and the main rank work in October. 

Station Rank 
This rank is directly outside the pedestrian exit from the station. It is slightly 
further away from the exit / entrance than it used to be, but still provides 
around 14 direct spaces in two lanes on a paved brick surface. There is a 
canopy to provide some passenger shelter from rain provided in the middle of 
the rank. The area also has a drop-off and pick-up area for other vehicles 
further away from the station, and then a single lane exit from the full area. 
Pick up is from the passenger side, though being a separate rank, would safely 
allow loading from both sides, with plenty of space for ramps. Additional 
vehicles at busy times can wait in the station car park to feed through to the 
rank. 
 
Access to and from Station Road towards the city centre is along Tenison Road 
and Great Northern Road. Buses have priority at the Tenison Road / Station 
Road junction meaning that vehicles leaving the station have to give way to 
buses from the station together with a small amount of other vehicles.  

Page 96



 

 

21 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

St Andrew’s Street and feeder 
This main council provided rank gives six to seven spaces just south of the 
junction with Sidney Street right at the start of the pedestrianised area of the 
main city centre. The rank is located on the western side of this one-way 
northbound road. Loading is from the passenger side, with driver side loading 
dangerous due to the passing traffic, including many buses. Although the 
pavement is wide, pedestrian volumes may cause issues when loading wheel 
chairs. 
 
The rank has a feeder site with nine spaces in Drummer Street, just near the 
bus station. The main rank has optical detectors linked to a sign at Drummer 
Street which should change to confirm spaces are available, to reduce over-
ranking and the obstruction to through traffic this might cause at the main 
location. Drummer Street loading, if used, is from the driver side. The location 
also has public toilets meaning it can act as a rest rank at times.  
 
We were advised that issues with the call-on system mean that drivers using 
this rank tend to use a text service to confirm available spaces rather than 
trusting the call-on system. This also allows for vehicles arriving directly along 
St Andrew’s Street rather than passing via Drummer Street. Some passengers 
do take vehicles from the feeder rank. The provision for further excess vehicles 
along Emmanuel Road did not return. 
 
Parkside 
This rank is a five-space location on the southern side of this one-way road, 
just north of the long-distance coach stops for Cambridge. Vehicles load from 
the passenger side of the vehicle, with any driver side loading being dangerous 
due to passing traffic. There would be plenty of space for wheel chair loading 
although this would block the pavement at the time of use, although there is 
no fence and parkland to the immediate rear. It is also now one of the locations 
of the electric charging points. 
 
Sidney Street, near Sussex Street 
This night-time rank, formally available from 1900 to 0700 only, is on the 
western side of the street between Market Street and Sussex Street. The 
highway is brick tiled at this point so any attempt at painting markings would 
be futile, even if legally possible. The location is marked on two low bollards 
at either end of the two spaces provided. There is no other signage or any 
pedestrian guidance to the location, with the only real advertising being 
vehicles sitting there.  
 
 
 

Page 97



 

 

22 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Sidney Street is one way northbound and only accessible between 16:00 and 
10:00. Loading from either side would be possible given the slow speeds, 
although usage of wheel chair ramps could be difficult given the overall 
narrowness of both pavement and street. 
 
Sidney Street, near Petty Cury (Boots rank) 
This location is directly outside the Boots store just north of Petty Cury. It is 
again on the western side of the one-way northbound road although this 
location has a wider road and pavement than the rank above. Again, it is only 
marked by signs on low bollards at either end, with brick paving again making 
any other marking very difficult. This is also subject to the restriction of no 
access from 10:00 to 16:00.  
 
Market Square 
This area is also within the pedestrianised area only accessible to vehicles 
between 16:00 and 10:00. The Square surrounds the market stalls. There are 
two sections of rank, both available 19:00 to 06:00 only. Both have five 
spaces. The western side rank is near to Great St Mary’s Church and with 
tarmac road surface does have clear road markings. It is a clearway at other 
times, but loading is allowed from 16:00 to 19:00 and 06:00 to 10:00. 
However, the rank often tends to have one space taken up by large waste bins 
used for the market. Loading would be possible from either side, although the 
passenger side pavement is relatively narrow. This rank is marked ‘taxi rank 
covered by CCTV’. 
 
The section of rank on the northern edge has signs and small bollard signs but 
with brick tiled paving no road markings. It is in a layby although the pavement 
here is much wider, and again loading would be possible from either side of 
the vehicle given the very low traffic speeds and volumes here. For this survey, 
this section of rank tends to be the head of the rank used at most available 
times whilst the western edge rank tends to be a feeder principally used only 
when the main rank is full of vehicles.  
 
Bridge Street 
This rank is located in the pedestrian zone of this Street, with access allowed 
for buses, taxis and vehicles needing to get to properties in Bridge Street 
South. This is not part of the central area pedestrianisation and does not have 
as stringent access arrangements. The road is one-way northbound, and the 
rank is on the eastern side of the road. This means that passengers need to 
enter from the driver’s side, although passenger side loading is possible but 
with caution given the passage of buses. It is located in a layby which has four 
spaces, but signing only on small bollards.  
 

Page 98



 

 

23 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

St Andrew’s Street, Baptist Church (Hobson House rank) 
This rank has clear larger street sign marking but again being on brick paving, 
no road markings. The site can also be used for loading 07:00 to 10:00 and 
16:00 to 19:00 and for disabled badge parking between 10:00 and 16:00. 
Passenger loading is from the passenger side with a relatively wide pavement 
nearby. Further, driver side loading would be unsafe given the volume of buses 
passing immediately adjacent to the rank.  
 
Unlike many other ranks, the adjacent road is two-way, albeit bus and taxi 
only southbound, so vehicles could service it from the driver side heading 
southbound. 
 
Downing Street (Revolution rank, John Lewis) 
This rank has five spaces which take over from the bus stop at this location 
between 22:00 and 06:00. The rank is well-signed but road markings only 
define the bus stop and not the use as a taxi rank. Pedestrian loading would 
be from the passenger side. The John Lewis building overhang effectively 
provides shelter at this location, the only council rank to have such a facility. 
Observations suggest that lighting at this location may be an issue. 
 
Corn Exchange St (Lola Lo rank) 
This 2017 introduced rank is a two-space location in a lay-by right at the 
northern end of this one-way street, near to an exit from the nearby shopping 
centre. The passengers must enter from the drivers’ side given the road layout. 
Passenger side loading would be possible given the slow other traffic speeds, 
but wheel chair loading here would be disruptive to other traffic. The rank 
operates from 19:00 to 07:00 only every day and is otherwise a loading bay. 

Access from this location follows the one-way route out to Wheeler Street, 
Bene’t Street and Trumpington Street, so can be fairly lengthy possibly 
suggesting the likelihood of vehicles waiting here could be quite low. 

Rank observations 
There were two elements to the rank observation programme. The wider, all-
rank coverage was undertaken from 10:00 on Thursday 17th June 2022 until 
11:59 on Sunday 19th June. This was marginally extended from the previous 
coverage to meet current needs for robust data sampling. The three busiest 
ranks at St Andrew’s Street, the private rail station location and the main 
Market Square location were observed during November over a period running 
from Thursday 10th November at 06:00 through to 05:59 on Sunday 13th 
November in all three locations. The former survey provided 335 hours of 
observations across the ranks in the City, including several lesser used 
locations (plus further coverage of some locations when ranks were not in 
operation).  

Page 99



 

 

24 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

High level review of rank operations 
In the order of 770 hours of video footage were obtained at rank locations in 
Cambridge during the main survey. All these hours were ‘quick-watched’ to 
identify hours when the ranks were: 

- Busy (three or more licensed vehicles or passenger groups in any hour) 
- Quiet (licensed vehicle or passenger activity for one or two vehicles or 

passengers in any hour) 
- Unused – no hackney carriage or passenger activity in an hour 
- Parked in by private vehicles for most of the hour 
- Parked in by private vehicles but with hackney carriage activity adjacent 
- Main rank busy but feeder unused 

 
Where a rank was not legally in operation, any licensed vehicle activity was 
also noted in the first two categories but otherwise those hours were excluded 
(some 39% of the total hours collected). Of the remaining hours, 43% were 
busy, 9% quiet, 2% parked in but still seeing hackney carriage activity 
adjacent or in remaining rank spaces, 3% seeing the main rank busy but the 
feeder quiet, (i.e. total of 57% seeing some hackney carriage activity), 9% 
simply parked in and 34% unused though legally available.  
 
Considering the overview, Corn Exchange Street is either unused or parked in 
by non-licensed vehicles. The St Andrews Street (church) rank is also either 
unused or parked in (but to a lesser extent than Corn Exchange Street). The 
only other rank seeing significant parked vehicle issues is the Downing Street 
rank. This is fully parked in on Thursday evenings, but sees no hackney 
carriage usage at that time. Both Friday and Saturday nights into the next 
mornings see significant parking but also usage by hackney carriages at this 
location. The Parkside rank saw some, but generally very little, usage. 
 
Both Sidney Street ranks see usage, with the Boots rank seeing more usage, 
and in some cases ahead of the time the rank is formally available. Both tend 
to cease being used around 04:00 with the Superdrug location tending to start 
later than the Boots location albeit with lesser demand in those periods. The 
Market Hill ranks tend to see around 4 hours used on the Thursday evening / 
Friday morning but are then busy for most available hours Friday/Saturday 
and Saturday/Sunday. On both nights the main rank is used from 18:00 
onwards, an hour earlier than formally available.  
 
Bridge Street rank was quiet or unused on the Thursday but busiest once 
legally active Friday evening to midnight, with the main usage for just the first 
two hours on the Saturday and then quiet to 02:00 then unused. 
 

Page 100



 

 

25 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The St Andrews Street rank and feeder, and station, all saw some quiet and 
unused hours but were generally busy the bulk of the time.  
 
Rank usage – weekly estimates 
In order to set the observed rank usage in context, the June full survey 
programme results were used to estimate typical weekly usage of hackney 
carriages by rank in Cambridge at this time. The table below also compares 
these results to the June surveys for the two top ranks, and to the previous 
(2017 and 2012) survey data results. The table below is listed in order of the 
rank with highest usage from the full 2022 estimates first (irrespective of if 
the rank is private or otherwise). Values shown are estimated weekly 
passengers at each location.  

Rank 2022 2017 2017, June-based 2012 
Flow Flow Flow % Flow 

Railway Station (private) 13,389(63) 13,263(49/63) 21,445 59(71) 14,145 (45) 
St Andrew’s Street 4,694(22) 7,668(28/37) 8,908 24(29) 12,290(38) 
Market Square 947(4.5) 3,307(12)   586(2) 
Bridge St 619(2.9) 431(2)   462(1) 
Drummer St 582(2.7) 965(4)   91(0.0) 
Sidney St, Superdrug 255(1.2) 540(2)   3,000(9) 
Sidney St, Boots 462(2.2) 0   1,200(4) 
Market Square Feeder 128(0.6)     
Downing St 123(0.6) 569(2)   n/a 
Parkside 6(0.03) 244(1)   302(1) 
St Andrew’s St Church Unused 32(0.0)   Not covered 
Corn Exchange St Unused 4(0.0)   n/a 
Total 21,204 27,023  32,076 
Comparison to previous -22% -16%   

 

The table demonstrates how dominant the railway station rank is in the overall 
picture. In the full rank survey, it now takes some 63% of all passengers 
(increased from the 49% of 2017 despite changes to rail usage). St Andrew’s 
Street follows second, but with just 22% of the total level of passengers. 
Market Square is the next with 4.5% (12% 2017). Between them they account 
for 85% of all passengers (this excludes the smaller proportion leaving directly 
from Drummer Street). This is an increase from the 77% for the two in 2017, 
suggesting a greater focus now on the top two ranks.   

No other rank is estimated to see more than 950 total passengers in a week 
in this survey. The third busiest rank remains Market Square although its usage 
level has reduced strongly from 2017. Current estimated demand is 4.5% from 
the main rank and 0.6% from the feeder (in 2017 this was 12% of the total 
and some 3,300 passengers).  

Page 101



 

 

26 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

As expected, some passengers do take vehicles from the feeder rank in 
Drummer St which is near the bus station and several bus stops, amounting 
to some 2.7% of estimated 2022 typical trade from ranks (was 4% in 2017).  

For the current survey, all other ranks see 2.9% or less of the total and both 
St Andrews Street Church and the Corn Exchange rank saw no activity during 
our sampling of activity. The Parkside rank was also hardly used, seeing just 
six estimated passengers. 

The fourth busiest rank had actually increased usage, Bridge Street. For this 
survey it saw just over 600 passengers (2.9% of the total), compared to 431 
and 2% in 2017. The Drummer Street feeder provided 2.7% (was 4%), Sidney 
St Boots 2.2%, Sidney St Superdrug 1.2%, Market Square Feeder 0.6% and 
Downing Street 0.6%. Both Downing Street and Sidney Street Superdrug were 
reduced levels of usage compared to 2017. However, in 2017 there was no 
observed usage of the Sidney Street Boots rank.  

Overall, total estimated weekly patronage based on the full June survey was 
21,204 passengers, some 22% down on 2017, with that level being 16% down 
on the 2012 levels (both being five year periods this comparison is therefore 
a similar one).  

The three busiest ranks were re-surveyed over a 72-hour period in November 
to identify potential impact of students being back in the City. This survey 
covered the station, St Andrew’s Street (including its Drummer Street feeder) 
and the main rank at Market Street. The total estimated weekly patronage 
from these three locations was 9% lower than the June values. This confirms 
that the June data is a more robust test of unmet demand given it has higher 
overall demand levels.  

However, the overall figures mask a distinct change in the pattern of data – 
with the station rank 20% down and St Andrew’s Street up 14%, Drummer St 
up 10% and Market Street up 9%. This is reasonable, with more activity in 
town and less people arriving. This reduces the dominance of the station from 
68% within these three locations to 61% in November.  

Reviewing the daily data also shows a change in pattern, with the station 21% 
down on the Thursday but 41% down Friday and 44% down on the Saturday. 
St Andrews Street and Market Street saw reduced Thursday and Friday flows 
but strongly increased Saturday flows (54% and 45% respectively). The 
November dates were 10-12 November which were away from rail strike days 
during that month (although 10th may have been impacted after the 9th being 
a strike day). This does not, however, explain the lower Friday or Saturday 
flows at the station.  

Page 102



 

 

27 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Having set the context, the following section provide more detail on the current 
usage of ranks in Cambridge, as well as discussing operation of each rank in 
more detail to paint a clearer picture of usage by time of day and rank. 

Overview of ranks from direct observations 
Graphs were produced to compare the data collected in a visual manner. The 
first graph shows the overall results of the June wider survey but for total 
passengers over the surveyed days. 

 

This graph shows how demand increases from Thursday to Friday (51%) and 
Saturday (12%) although the difference between the last two days is not as 
great. In each case the ‘day’ covers 06:00 one morning to 05:59 on the next 
day. Apart from the 05:00 hour on the Sunday, there were passenger flows at 
one or other rank in Cambridge in all hours from 06:00 Thursday onwards. 

The peak flow was the 23:00 hour on the Saturday, followed by the next peak 
hour being the midnight hour following Friday night. Interestingly, flows were 
200 passengers or more for every hour from the 22:00 Friday to the 03:00 
Saturday morning, but then also from 13:00 on the Saturday through to the 
23:00 hour, after which flows dropped significantly.  

The average flow over the 72 hours observed was 133 passengers with 
Thursday 95, Friday 144 and Saturday 161, not far different overall. Thursday 
daytime flows tended to be higher than those on Friday, but Saturday’s were 
higher leading up to the high levels from lunch time onwards.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

6 8 10121416182022 0 2 4 6 8 10121416182022 0 2 4 6 8 10121416182022 0 2 4 6 8 10

Thu Fri Sat Sun

Total Cambridge Taxi Passengers, 2022

Page 103



 

 

28 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

This demand profile does not appear to be peaky at all and sees relatively good 
levels of sustained demand through the period observed. 

Flows by day and rank 
A graph was produced showing demand by rank and hours.  
 

 

This demonstrates graphically the general dominance of the station rank 
followed by the St Andrew’s Street rank. This is very similar to 2017. On all 
days there is a clear morning peak at the station rank although the Saturday 
tends to see this level growing through the morning. Flows at the station taper 
off towards the end of main rail service operation.  

St Andrews Street tends to be fairly equal throughout Thursday but has a more 
peaked profile on Fridays and even more peaked on the Saturday. The Market 
Hill ranks see usage late evening / early mornings on all three days with the 
Friday and Saturdays appearing similar and much more prominent than the 
Thursday. The Drummer Street feeder seems to find favour more on the 
Saturday. Downing Street is used Fridays and Saturdays with Bridge Street 
operating at lower volumes but for longer periods. 

 

 

Parkside

0

50

100

150

200

6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6

Thu
Fri

Sat
Sun

Cambridge taxi passengers by rank

Parkside Bridge St Downing St Market Hill 2

Sidney St Superdrug Drummer St Feeder Sidney St Boots Market Hill 1

St Andrews St Station

Page 104



 

 

29 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Vehicle activity levels at ranks 
The full database of all vehicle and passenger movements at or near the taxi 
ranks was inspected. 23,429 different records of activity were obtained over 
the 72 hours at all ranks. 71% of these records were of vehicle movements 
either arriving or departing the location. Of these, 88% were hackney carriage 
movements. 4% were local private hire vehicles, 3% private cars, 2% goods 
vehicles and 2% out of town taxis. 

45% of all the observations of vehicle movements were at the station rank, 
followed by 20% at St Andrews Street, 13% at the Drummer Street feeder and 
9% at Market Hill. The two Sidney Street locations accounted for some 8% of 
total movements.  

The level of hackney carriages observed by rank location varied from 32% to 
96% of all movements. The three values nearest to 100% were for the ranks 
that were best designed to exclude other vehicles – the Station, St Andrews 
Street and the Drummer Street feeder. Bridge Street and Downing Street saw 
the lowest proportion of hackney carriages, with the balance at Downing Street 
made up of private hire and private cars whilst most extraneous vehicles at 
Bridge Street were local private hire vehicles with some goods vehicles and 
some private cars.  

Levels of WAV style hackney carriage activity 
Over all the hackney carriage vehicle movements, 34% appeared to be wheel 
chair accessible style vehicles. This is lower than the 50% within the fleet 
suggesting many WAV may not service ranks.  

The levels of WAV at ranks varied from 20% to 75% with the lowest value 
being that for the Station rank (related to the high proportion of saloon vehicles 
having permits for the station). Downing Street and Market Hill had the highest 
levels (although these could be focussing on WAV that had larger capacities to 
meet demands here). The St Andrews Street and Drummer Street feeder 
locations saw about 53-54% of the vehicle observations as WAV style, more in 
line with the proportion in the fleet.  

During the course of the survey period, 11 records were made of wheel chair 
usage at the ranks. There were six such movements at the Station rank, three 
at St Andrews Street and one each at Sidney Street Boots and Bridge Street. 

There were a further 58 observations at ranks where a person visibly appeared 
disabled and needing assistance. Again, the bulk were at the two main ranks 
with 29 at St Andrews Street and 25 at the Station. The balance of three were 
at the Drummer Street feeder location.  

 
 

Page 105



 

 

30 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Active hackney carriages 
Information was gathered during the main survey of the level of vehicles active 
on the Saturday of the June survey. Over 550 different vehicle observations 
were obtained during five separate 2-hour sample periods near to the two main 
active rank locations (remarkably exactly the same number of observations as 
in the previous survey).  
 
A total of 565 different vehicle observations were obtained. The observations 
were first matched against the current plate lists for hackney carriage and 
private hire for Cambridge City Council and for South Cambridgeshire. A total 
of 280 (271 in previous survey) legitimate hackney carriage and 19 (18) 
legitimate City Council private hire plates were observed.  

The remaining 266 (276) plates were assumed to be out of town vehicles. 182 
were found to be South Cambridgeshire (136 different plates) with 13 (6 
plates) potentially Wolverhampton and 71 vehicles for whom it could not be 
verified who they belonged to or if they were typographical errors. 

Considering the legitimate Cambridge hackney carriages, this survey found the 
observations represented 15% of the available plates for both observations at 
the station. In the previous survey a similar pair of periods saw 41% and 45% 
of the fleet respectively. This is a large reduction. For St Andrews Street, the 
proportion of the hackney carriage fleet seen was 16% early afternoon (31% 
last time), 13% early evening (55%) and 10% early hours (59%). This is again 
a significant reduction in active plates and also shows what we are now finding 
to be typical, reduced levels of plate activity in less preferable operating times, 
i.e. late nights.  

During the course of our sample observations, we observed 51% (74%) in the 
previous survey) of the current hackney carriage fleet. As noted above, this is 
a significant reduction suggesting many vehicles still not active since the 
pandemic.  
 
In terms of vehicles focussing on one location, of the observations, 34% (10% 
last time) of vehicles were only observed at the station, 45% (30%) only at St 
Andrew’s Street, and the remaining 12% (60%) were observed passing both 
locations. If this proportion applies to the full fleet, this suggests no more than 
102 vehicles only service the station, whilst there are 170 permit holders at 
present, suggesting our sample saw about 60% of these. 
  

Page 106



 

 

31 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 
demand). This element was added following a court ruling and is the most 
recent addition to the basket of elements that comprise the index of 
significance of unmet demand (ISUD), see further later. 

However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify the 
overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles within 
the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues and 
factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. This also 
acts as a validation on rank activity observations, what drivers have said and 
also other evidence received. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 
carriages waiting at ranks.  

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 
people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 
demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of 
interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as 
some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (eg of students, 
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 
be indicative taken alone. 

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the 
latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample 
has become biased in any way. 

Page 107



 

 

32 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

For this survey, the census suggests an even split between males and females. 
The full sample matched this exactly (last time we saw about 6% more males 
than in the census value for the area. The census split for the interviewable 
ages saw 38% in the 15-29 younger group, 39% in the mid group (30-54) and 
23% for those above (a relatively youthful profile). For this survey, there was 
an almost equal response between the census and our sample for the middle 
group, but under representation for the younger group compared to the older 
by around 22%. This could increase hackney carriage usage against private 
hire and particularly against apps. 

Last time the 31-55 age group was overrepresented by 14% at the expense of 
the other two groups, with 11% less of the lower age bracket and 3% less of 
the older bracket. This will make some difference between the two samples 
but this should not be a major issue. 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 
although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. 

For this survey, some 276 people were interviewed in the streets of Cambridge. 
Some 48% (18% last time) were interviewed near to the railway station, with 
the remainder in the shopping streets of the City Centre. As already noted, 
22% of interviews were undertaken in mid-October once students had returned 
(all in city centre). 

Interviewees were asked if they had used a licensed vehicle in the Cambridge 
City area in the last three months. In total, 74% said they had (as in the 
previous survey). This time there was no real difference between the station 
and central area samples, in the previous survey the central area value was 
much higher at 87%, with just 14% of those interviewed near the station 
saying they had used a licensed vehicle.  

31% of the total said those trips were only by hackney carriage, 26% were 
only by private hire and 17% by either form of licensed vehicle. Interestingly 
the share by private hire at the station was lower at 19% compared to 32% 
usage of private hire by the central area interviewees. 

Page 108



 

 

33 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

All were asked how often they used a licensed vehicle in the Cambridge area 
and all provided frequencies (including some saying ‘never’). When weighted 
by the level of frequency, the city centre sample made 1.9 (2.8 last time) 
licensed vehicle trips per person per month. The station value was lower at 1.1 
(0.6), with the overall value for the survey being 1.5 (2.4) trips per month. 
This suggests less frequent usage of licensed vehicles compared to the last 
survey. The proportion saying ‘never’ was 14% (19% city, 10% station). 

When people were asked in regard to frequency of hackney carriage trips, 
these values reduced to 1.6 (1.3) for the city centre, 0.7 (0.5) for the station 
and 1.2 overall (same as last time). Interestingly, this suggests that some 
62% of station trips made are most likely by hackney carriage – counter to the 
response about recent usage. The value for the city centre sample suggests 
85% using hackney carriages with the overall value 77%, a high proportion. 

People told us how they normally obtained a licensed vehicle in the Cambridge 
City area. 47% (37% last time) of respondents said from a rank. The 
proportion at 51% was higher for the station sample and lower for the city 
centre (43%). Comparing with the usage statistics that are the opposite way 
round between the station and central area and generally higher this suggests 
frequency of hackney carriage trips is higher than those for private hire.  

A further 2% (4% last time) said they hailed although this was all people in 
the central area, with none saying they hailed at the station (4% for city centre 
sample). Overall 41% (47%) used a telephone, 1% (6%) a direct free phone, 
one person (2% last time) booked on line and a further 8% (up from 1%) used 
an app. The level of app usage was twice as high in the station sample as for 
the central area sample, 10% compared to 5% perhaps helping to explain the 
differences with private hire usage noted earlier (it appears many more at the 
station will use an app on arrival).  

Just nine different companies were named by those saying who they used 
when they booked licensed vehicles by phone (11 in the last survey). 48% 
(54% last time) of respondents named at least one company. This time just 
one person named three companies (15% last time), 18% provided two (19% 
last time, with 81% just naming one company.  

From the total number of responses, the top company gained 59% (51% last 
time) of all mentions (this was the same company as in the last survey). Their 
proportion at the station was 80% (86%) of all mentions for those interviewed 
there. The next three largest companies obtained 13%, 8% and 8% (compared 
to 21% and 16% last time). The remaining companies gained 6%, 3%, 2%, 
1% and 1%. The second company last time was now fifth, and the third 
company last time was not mentioned at all this time.  

Page 109



 

 

34 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The second company this time had risen from 2% to 13% and was an app-
based company. Neither of the next two companies, each with 8% of mentions, 
were mentioned at all previously. This, along with the high value of single 
company mentions, does suggest agglomeration has occurred and a reduction 
in the main competition although there are now more companies with scores 
between six and eight % now.  

In terms of ranks people were aware of, just seven (22 last time) different 
names were provided. These represented four active ranks and one rank no 
longer existing. Three names were given for Drummer Street (Cambridge Bus 
Station and Emmanuel Street were the other two). This is a much clearer and 
focussed knowledge of ranks than in the previous survey. 

The top rank mentioned was the station, with 70% of overall mentions 
(unsurprisingly 92% of the mentions by station interviewees). Overall 15% 
mentioned Drummer Street (none at station), St Andrews Street was third with 
13% (24% in the central interviews and 2% at the station) and 3% mentioned 
Market Square (interestingly all by station interviewees). These results suggest 
many travelling into the City from the station by hackney carriage do not 
readily know where ranks are for their return, or possibly that most rail station 
hackney carriage trips are not centre-focussed so central rank knowledge is 
not relevant or focussed on night demand given they were the only ones 
quoting Market Square, albeit at a low share). 

54% (73% last time) of those responding said that they used the ranks which 
they had mentioned, a high level of actual stated usage albeit less than 
previously. There was a marginal difference between the station, where 45% 
said they did not use it and the three names for Drummer Street (where 47% 
said they did use it), with a third of those naming Market Square saying they 
used it (but only six people quote this). The person aware of Station Road said 
they did not use it. 

People were asked their views of various aspects of the service provided to 
them when using local licensed vehicles. The graph below provides the results: 

Page 110



 

 

35 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

 

All aspects of the service score at least 60% or more as ‘very good’. All but 
vehicle cleanliness, driver knowledge of the area and price have no score less 
than average. Driver knowledge has a small ‘poor’ score whilst vehicle 
cleanliness has a small ‘poor’ and a slightly larger ‘very poor’. As is nationally 
usual, price sees the lowest good, a moderate average a noticeable poor and 
an element of very poor score. Overall, this is an excellent score for the current 
Cambridge service provided.  

Driver knowledge scores the highest level for very good, followed by state of 
vehicle repair and driver behaviour. This is all very encouraging and needs to 
be communicated to the full trade and taken advantage of for marketing 
purposes. 

Interviewees were asked what would encourage them either to use hackney 
carriages or to use them more. 75% said ‘if they were more affordable’. The 
next largest percentage said ‘driver quality’ or ‘more hackney carriages at a 
rank or to hail’ (both 6% each). Just two people (less than 2%) said ‘nothing’. 

85% of those interviewed (a very high 95% last time) said they did not have, 
nor knew anyone who did have, any disability that meant they needed an 
adapted vehicle when travelling by licensed vehicle. The remaining 15% were 
split between 11% knowing someone needing a WAV and 4% knowing 
someone needing an adapted vehicle other than WAV. This suggests need for 
adapted vehicles appears to have grown, with a focus on WAV style, but not 
exclusively so. 

 

 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Cambridge Views of Aspects of Service

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

Page 111



 

 

36 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

For this survey, people told us if they had ever given up waiting at ranks for a 
hackney carriage. Ten initially said they had given up waiting at a rank. Four 
said at the station, one at St Andrew’s Street and all others were station 
interviewees but did not say where they had given up – we have assumed at 
the station. If it is assumed all that said no and all those who did not answer 
had no issue the latent demand (rank) value is 4.9% of people or 1.049 for all 
ranks, reduced to 0.49% for non-station related ranks (1.0049). For the 
station the value is 1.0439 or 4.39%. This compares to 1.07, 1.05 and 1.02 
respectively for the last survey, with increased latent demand at the station 
but strongly reduced for other ranks. 

The small number who had given up told us what they did in that situation to 
get where they wanted to go. 40% walked away and hailed away from the 
rank location, 30% made a booking and 20% caught a bus.  

A very high 89% said they felt there were enough hackney carriages in the 
Cambridge area at this time. This question was answered by 56% of those 
interviewed.  

People were asked about matters related to COVID impact on use of licensed 
vehicles in the area. In terms of how current use of licensed vehicles had 
changed to pre-COVID 49% said they used hackney carriages about the same 
and 38% said similarly for private hire. 2% said they used hackney carriages 
more but 7% said less (net loss of 5%) whereas the values for private hire 
were both 2% suggesting no net gain or loss. 

Looking forward, 49% expected to use hackney carriages the same and 37% 
private hire. 6% expected to use hackney carriages more but 4% said less (net 
gain 2%) with 4% more and none less for private hire, a net gain of 4%. 
Overall this suggests continuing increase in use of private hire services but 
continued loss of hackney carriage since pre-COVID (the national trend). 

78% lived in the area, although this varied with 90% of central Cambridge 
respondents doing so and just 61% of those interviewed at the station, as 
might be expected.  

 

 

  

Page 112



 

 

37 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 
recommendations of the BPG: 

 Supermarkets 
 Hotels 
 Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 
 Other entertainment venues 
 Restaurants 
 Hospitals 
 Police 
 Disability representatives 
 Rail operators 
 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases there 
are very specific comments from one stakeholder but we have tried to maintain 
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 
authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face 
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the 
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet 
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn 
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 
and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 
summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Where the statistical analyses in Chapter 2 demonstrate low levels of 
wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) provision, an increased emphasis will be 
given to the issue in terms of the focus of stakeholders but also in specific 
efforts to contact disabled users and their representatives. We are now finding 
this is best done through council-issued requests as those with disabilities tend 
to prefer to speak with officials rather than unknown independent surveys 
which they tend not to trust or believe to have their interests at heart. 

Given the general low current response to key stakeholder requests, we also 
set up a form which was distribute by email and other electronic methods. The 
overall response was very low. Many acknowledged receipt of their opportunity 
to respond but provided nothing further. 

Page 113



 

 

38 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Supermarkets 
No responses were received 

Hotels 
One guest house told us they had used and recommended one local company 
for over 25 years and had never received a single complaint. Their quote was 
‘always reliable always on time’. No others responded. 

Public houses 
One pub responded to inform us they had not had any feedback about licensed 
vehicles, either positive or negative. No others responded. 

Night clubs 
No responses were received 
 
Restaurants 
No responses were received 
 
Hospitals 
No comment was made by the hospitals in the area. 

Police 
One response was received from the police (see below for summary) 

Disability 
One response was received from disability representatives (see below for 
summary) 

The overall response from the two respondents noted above confirmed that 
both were aware of those they represented who used local licensed vehicles. 
One said people got licensed vehicles using their own phones, the other asked 
them to book vehicles for them. Both were aware of ranks. One group had 
received no complaints, the other had. The police told us they often were asked 
to book licensed vehicles for people leaving a custody location. They used a 
range of firms, and never received any complaint about the service provided, 
although they said that the nature of the usage may mean people don’t really 
want to interact with the police any further having left.  

The disabled representative told us that they found the existing licensed 
vehicle stock had many inaccessible features (but did not explain further). A 
key concern was where drivers were not willing to provide appropriate 
assistance to customers with disabilities needing help.  

Rail and other transport operators 
Neither the rail station operator or other local transport operators had any 
comment. 

Page 114



 

 

39 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Nationally available information regarding passenger throughput at the station 
has just been updated to cover up to the end of March 2022. This shows that 
Cambridge is now the 37th largest used station on the English, Welsh and 
Scottish rail network, with some 6.9m trips per year entries and exits for the 
last available year, ending March 2022. The last pre-pandemic year saw 11.6m 
and the year between then and now just 2.3m.  

Assuming 52 weeks in a year and halving the total passengers to get those 
leaving the station suggests around 66,400 persons per week might leave 
Cambridge station. Using the estimate weekly 13,389 hackney carriage 
passengers observed for a typical week suggests around 20% of people 
arriving at the station leave by hackney carriage from the rank. With others 
leaving by private hire this suggests licensed vehicles are very important to 
the station operation. Other contacts within the City might be able to compare 
this to levels of bus, cycle, walk and car departures.  

Other Council contacts 
No other council contacts made any response. 

  

Page 115



 

 

40 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank  

Page 116



 

 

41 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 
their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behavior. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives. Some authorities 
cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to operators seeking 
they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle data head 
communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 
and measure response levels. For this survey, a copy of the letter and 
questionnaire were passed to the Council who issued them to 516 dual licence 
drivers in early August 2022. A six-week response time was given, closing on 
12 September 2022. A total of 167 responses were received. This is a very 
high 32% response rate, excellent for this kind of survey, and even higher than 
the 22% response from 2017. 

The information received was checked to identify any duplicate entries, of 
which there did not appear to be any, although there were two duplicated 
badge numbers, which were assumed to be an error and the returns counted 
as legitimate on inspection. 

The vast majority, 92% of respondents said that the licensed vehicle trade was 
their only or main source of income. 3% said they worked in the trade part 
time but had other sources of income. 2% worked in the trade part time with 
no additional source of income. One driver was not working and did not intend 
to return. Another four (2%) were not working at the time of the questionnaire 
but planned to return when demand increased. 

Page 117



 

 

42 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

All told us the kinds of vehicle they drove. 78% said they drove hackney 
carriage, 17% both hackney carriage and private hire and 5% just private hire. 

Drivers were asked which trade group they were associated with. 61% said 
they were not affiliated with any group. 22% were with one group and 7% with 
another. 6% named a company as who they were affiliated to, with a small 
number giving other answers including a Union.  

On average, respondents had 15 (12 in 2017) years’ service in the Cambridge 
city licensed vehicle trade, although quoted years ranged from one to 48 (45 
in 2017). This is counter to national trends where as people retire experience 
tends to be lost. 

The most frequently worked number of days was six (42%, was 31% in 2017) 
but followed by five days (34%, was 30%) and seven days (16%, was 26%). 
The only other significant number of days worked was four (5% (was 10% 
2017)) with 1% (2%) saying two days and 3% (1%) saying three.  

In terms of hours, the average was 46 (marginally less than the 47 of 2017). 
The maximum quoted was 96 hours with 6% of all quoted hours being 70 or 
more. This suggests marginally shorter working weeks at this point in time, 
but clearly shows people are working less days. 

89% (79% in 2017) said they owned their own vehicle whilst 10% (16% in 
2017) said someone else also drove their vehicle. 29% of those now not 
sharing their vehicle said this had changed since COVID, i.e. there has been a 
reduction in vehicle sharing. It also confirms that many that have left the 
industry were those finding it easiest to leave, i.e. those without the 
commitment of a vehicle. 

60% said they accepted pre-bookings with 81% being via a company. Just 4% 
said via various apps. 

Drivers were asked the ranks they served most frequently. Many gave more 
than one response. Of the total responses, 27% said St Andrew’s Street, 26% 
the station, 17% ‘city centre’ and 11% Drummer Street. Market Square was 
quoted 6% of times, Parkside for 5% and Sidney Street for 3%.  

A moderate number told us the issues that affected their choice of shift. From 
all the responses, the most frequent response, with 26% was working to suit 
family commitments (up from 22% last time), 11% avoiding heavy traffic 
(down from 32%), 7% avoiding difficult customers (up from 2% last time), 
4% around school contracts and 3% for ‘preference’. Again this tends to 
confirm the reduction in days drivers need to work. 

Page 118



 

 

43 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

93% felt there were enough hackney carriages in Cambridge at the present 
time.  

Respondents were asked how they felt having a limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers benefitted the public. Most of those suggested it prevented 
over-ranking and brought benefits in terms of reduced pollution from extra 
vehicles. Some pointed out it kept the trade viable and working hours reduced. 
Some felt there was no benefit, including some private hire and a few hackney 
drivers who wanted to own their own vehicle and no longer rent (although 
admitting they would then work hours they preferred not the current ones, 
which perversely would lead to worse service overall not better). 

One private hire driver wanted a hackney carriage plate so he could then meet 
the current requests he has to turn down from people waiting long times at 
the station. He did not seem aware he would also need a supplementary 
permit. This does however reiterate what we are seeing that there has been a 
major decline in service for the station. 

Many other comments were provided. Many said the key issue was the out-of-
town plates that were active. Some were critical that demand surveys were of 
no value but that direct discussion with trade representatives by the licensing 
officers would be more beneficial and lead to more direct actions. There was a 
clear misunderstanding that officers were able to take direct action to solve 
some issues they saw, such as stopping out-of-town activity. 

Respondents were asked how often they got wheel chair customers from the 
rank, bookings and contracts. The most frequent response was 37% for ranks, 
43% for bookings and 20% for contracts on a monthly basis. Next most 
frequent (18%, 24% and 20% respectively) was weekly, with yearly 
(15/17/20) and daily (14%, 7% and 20%). For all but the daily category, all 
booking scores were higher than for rank- or contract-based service. Daily 
customers were obtained by 14% of hackney carriage, 7% of private hire and 
a fifth of the contract respondents. 

For those getting customers seeking to transfer from a chair, the monthly value 
was highest in all cases, but highest for contracts (50%), then for hackney 
carriage (35%), then private hire (28%). Daily only accounted for 5-6% of 
respondents.  

Respondents told us 49% of them were aware of drivers that had given up 
working in the industry due to COVID impacts. 56% said they were aware of 
between one and five; 23% between six and ten and 13% 16-20. One quoted 
40 and another 50 people they were aware of.  

 

Page 119



 

 

44 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

20% felt the number of rank trips was about the same. However, 33% felt 25-
74% less and 23% 1-24% less and 6% 75-100% less (total of 62%). However, 
11% felt there were 25-74% more with 5% 1-24% more and 2% 75-100% 
more (18%). This suggests generally people felt there were less trips from 
ranks now.  

For bookings, 29% felt there were about the same level of trips with the next 
largest share 21% for 1-24% less. Overall 46% felt less and 25% more 
suggesting bookings had suffered less than rank-based work.  

Comments were provided how people felt the pandemic had affected their 
trade. Whilst many simply said it had been bad or difficult, others suggested 
reduction in work by various large amounts. Some said they had not worked 
for months or even years, whilst a smaller number had not worked as they or 
members of their family were vulnerable to COVID. Some pointed out there 
had been more recent improvements. 

When asked about how drivers felt about the future, there was a lot more 
variation. Many were pessimistic whilst others had some level of hope. One 
driver said the reduced number of drivers was helping them do better whilst 
another asked for limited private hire vehicle numbers. Several said there was 
need for more ranks and opportunity for all to service the station without any 
extra permit. A few suggested need to keep vehicles longer to help with 
viability. Several said they needed more drivers to help their business grow 
(presumably private hire operators). Concern about the up-front cost of 
moving to sustainable vehicles was also mentioned. 

One person understood that some issues – particularly the out-of-town 
vehicles – was not something the local licensing could easily act upon but 
others were not as sympathetic and thought there could be some action taken, 
but did not explain what. Some feared the power of larger multi-area 
companies. Some felt more drivers were being driven away from Cambridge 
by increased standards being applied within the City. It was clear there was a 
lot of thought about the future but also some levels of expectation of change 
that could not be met. 

72 took time to use the other comments option. Nearly all these comments 
reiterated or repeated points already made. Concerns about out-of-town 
vehicles and lack of apparent expected enforcement against them was 
regularly repeated. Some either renting or driving private hire wanted their 
own hackney carriage plates so they could choose more lucrative opportunities 
they did not feel were presented to them when renting. 

 

Page 120



 

 

45 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Several offered the opportunity for the Council to speak directly with them and 
a few repeated their concern that a survey was irrelevant. Some wanted more 
rank space. Many repeated comments there were too many hackney carriages 
and that generally work was trending towards private hire and use of apps. 

 

  

Page 121



 

 

46 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank 

  

Page 122



 

 

47 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations, but can also 
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 
take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 
However, the index has various components which can also be used to 
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 
market. 

 

 

Page 123



 

 

48 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

For clarification, unmet demand almost certainly exists in each and every area 
where hackney carriages operate. What is important from the point of view of 
policies limiting vehicle numbers is if the overall level of unmet demand 
identified can be counted as significant. The rule of thumb, accepted as an 
industry standard, is that a value below 80 means there is unmet demand, but 
it is not significant. A value of 80 or more means the index has identified unmet 
demand, and that it is significant to the degree that consideration should be 
given to at least increasing the current level of the limit, if not revising the 
policy per se. However, none of this is statutory or fixed and despite the 
apparent preciseness of the index and the cut-off level, final judgement 
remains with the committee who are required to be certain there is no unmet 
demand which is significant when they retain a limit policy. 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 
if other values are high. This does not deny unmet demand, just makes it clear 
that the level cannot be counted as significant under the ISUD definition of 
significance of unmet demand. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 
a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

Page 124



 

 

49 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 
factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 
entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 
are active or not.  

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 
periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 
tends to range from 0.8 for December to 1.2 for January / February.  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 
taxi ranks outside). 

 

Page 125



 

 

50 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 
the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence. 

The table below shows each component of the index over recent surveys to 
keep the values in context. The focus of this study is the performance of the 
service at this point in time, but the context is very important in order to 
understand the direction of travel of the levels of service over time. 

Survey Date 2022 2017 
 June only October only  

Element Co only All ranks Co only All ranks All data 
Average passenger delay (mins) 0.22 0.9 0.067 0.067 0.267 

Off peak level of delay 23.21 36.11 25 25 29.55 
General incidence of delay 6.96 30.47 1.36 0.66 9.29 

Peakiness of Demand 1 1 1 1 1 
Seasonal Factor 1 1 1 1 1 
Latent demand 1.0049 1.049 1.05 1.07 1.07 

Overall index of unmet demand 35.16 1039 2.4 1.18 78.3 
Note: overall index taken from detailed calculation in model, not rounded nos. above 

The latent demand factor taken from the on-street interviews for the full 
survey is 1.049 (as in many other places, less than the previous survey value). 
When focussed only on those giving up at the station, the value for the station 
itself is 1.0439 (up from 1.02). For council ranks only, therefore excluding the 
station, the value is then reduced to 1.0049 (was 1.05). This latter value is 
the one which should be used to test council only rank performance. 

For this survey, inspection of the overall profile of demand suggests that there 
are a number of peaks at different times, such that demand for the area cannot 
be considered to be peaky at this time. This has the effect of meaning the 
overall index of significance of unmet demand remains at the calculated level 
rather than being reduced by the influence of issues related to having to meet 
a key peak in demand. This remains true for this latest survey so that the value 
remains at 1. 

Page 126



 

 

51 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Data was collected in both June and November at the two main ranks. 
However, the station rank is a private rank, and were unmet demand here to 
be found to be contributing to the significance of the overall unmet demand, 
this could not be counted towards the need for extra plates as the Council 
cannot influence the extra requirements which reduce supply at that location. 

We undertook a test using the industry standard ISUD calculation based on 
the full set of June rank data. This saw average passenger delay just under a 
minute (0.9 minutes), off peak delay index over 36, general delay index over 
30 resulting in a very high level of estimated unmet demand at 1039. However, 
as already noted, the station rank is subject to a further restriction not 
controllable by the council, limiting the fleet available there much more 
strongly.  

Removing the performance of the station rank from the evaluation provides 
strong reductions in overall average passenger delay to 0.22 minutes, some 
reduction in the off peak index to 23, a strong reduction in the general delay 
index to just under 7 and a resulting index of significance of unmet demand at 
35.16, well below the cut off value of 80 which would be counted as suggesting 
unmet demand was significant.  

This is a more representative value for use by the council in reviewing its limit 
policy and covers the operation in the City which the council has full control 
over and therefore confirms that for council-provided and controlled locations 
there is unmet demand, but it is not significant. 

This level of index means that the limit policy can be retained without any need 
to issue any further licences and can see the current level of licences held at 
the present value. 

It is interesting to note that for the last survey, the results found better 
performance at the station rank even with its additional limit; this time station 
service levels have worsened and latent demand there has also reflected this. 
Though there should be strong concern regarding the poor performance of the 
station rank compared to other city ranks, there is little the Council can actually 
do given that the permit situation is out of their control.  

However, it is also true that the permit cannot fully be held responsible given 
better service has been seen in previous years even with that in place. Further 
discussion of the overall issues regarding this are discussed below drawing in 
other evidence such as that from the plate review.  

 

 

Page 127



 

 

52 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

It is possible that those focussing on trying to reduce costs may no longer be 
willing to invest the fee for the station usage. Or it could be long term impacts 
from the strong reduction in station demand that meant drivers had to seek 
custom elsewhere particularly given there was one full year with demand half 
the current level which itself is only back to 60% of the pre-pandemic level. 
There are suggestions that rail demand might only return to at best 90% of its 
former level, with a different spread and focus against peak hours and towards 
off-peak travel. 

  

Page 128



 

 

53 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
This Hackney carriage demand survey on behalf of Cambridge City has been 
undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history 
regarding unmet demand and its significance. This chapter first summarises 
each chapter in turn, and then draws together a synthesis, firstly in terms of 
demand and if and how any unmet demand is significant in terms of Section 
16 of the 1985 Transport Act, and secondly in terms of how currently 
developing Cambridge policies might be taken forward. 

Background and context 
This survey was undertaken by LVSA based on the Council Brief and our 
proposal of April 2022 as confirmed and developed at our June 2022 inception 
meeting. On street interviews were in August and mid-October, rank 
observations principally in June but with supplementary tests at the three main 
ranks undertaken in November, drivers were consulted in July / August, with 
key stakeholders contacted throughout the survey period.  
 
Cambridge City has a growing population and is also influenced strongly by the 
surrounding neighbouring South Cambridgeshire hinterland. Both cycling and 
rail commuting make the transport background of the City relatively unique. 
The picture is further influenced strongly by pro-sustainable transport policies 
supported by a long term pedestrianisation of the central core, and a 
developing busway rapid transit. In due course this may be supported by 
possible light rail developments. Since the last survey, the full service from the 
Thameslink expansion has arrived and other developments have occurred, 
although rail patronage for the latest available information remains only at 
60% of what it was pre-pandemic. This presently increases licensed vehicle 
use significantly since the station is a moderate distance from the central core 
and many other key destinations. 
 
The City remains part of the wider Cambridgeshire County, whose Transport 
Strategy for Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire (TSCSC) seeks to develop 
the integrated transport network with strategic transport policy to 2036 and 
aspirations to 2050. This is now being taken forward by the Greater Cambridge 
Partnership. As is usual, these higher level documents make very little mention 
of licensed vehicle services apart from use for demand responsive transport in 
rural areas, but also now including aims to increase the sustainability of vehicle 
propulsion methods. The County are the main provider of rank infrastructure 
in terms of regulation orders although there is significant involvement by the 
City in determining overall need and passing this to the County for 
implementation. 
 
 

Page 129



 

 

54 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

GCP has a Future Network Map 2030 focussing on four corridors. The City is 
also seeking reduced emission from licensed vehicles and has supported this 
since the last survey by taxi (licensed vehicle) only charging points. It was also 
agreed to allow 50 WAV plates to be traded in for electric vehicles to encourage 
growth in this provision. 
 
In terms of the licensed vehicle fleet, most hackney carriage growth was up to 
2011, after which there was a drop. There was some growth in the run up to 
the application of a limit on vehicle numbers, after which numbers have 
remained stable. The unlimited hackney carriage policy led to a strong decline 
in private hire vehicle numbers (although some such vehicles also moved to 
South Cambridgeshire), with present numbers 44% of the peak level, and 
continuing to decline (probably now with transfer to other out of town 
licences). The pandemic saw a drop in hackney carriage vehicle numbers of 
7% but this has now reversed although levels remain below the peak value 
(327 in 2017). 
 
The apparent fleet mix sees Cambridge City having a hackney carriage 
dominated fleet, although this is tempered by many private hire being out of 
town based. At the time of the survey, the private hire fleet was 27% of its 
peak level and under 100. 
 
Most drivers are now able to drive either hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicles, though a few single use driver badges remain on both sides. Current 
driver levels suggest potential for high levels of vehicle sharing by drivers with 
some 534 drivers for 403 vehicles (a third more drivers than vehicles).  
 
Most wheel chair accessible licensed vehicles are within the hackney carriage 
fleet, with present levels being lower than the peak of 70% reached briefly in 
2013. The present level is 52%, whilst the level in the private hire fleet is small 
and at the time of the survey was one vehicle. Much of the current level of 
WAV results from the need for all new hackney carriages to be wheel chair 
accessible, though further growth would be hard with the present grandfather 
rights provided to the first 121 vehicles (now reduced to 110), though this 
proportion suggests a few are choosing to be WAV style. The station permit 
numbers are now slightly higher at 170 (was 167 in previous survey).  
 
Regular review of the limit policy and level of vehicles occurs, although there 
was a gap in surveys brought about by the pandemic, increasing the current 
gap to five years. 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

 

55 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Rank observations 
Since the last survey, ranks have been stable although the Station Road rank 
has now gone altogether. The 2017 introduced Corn Exchange Rank still sees 
no usage. A high level review of rank operation found 34% of available rank 
hours unused with 9% of the same total blocked by parked vehicles. 43% of 
these hours saw the relevant ranks busy. The unused hours were focussed on 
ranks seeing little if any use overall (Corn Exchange Street, St Andrews Street 
Church and Parkside). The main location with issue with parked vehicles 
impacting on hackney carriage usage (and pedestrian safety) is Downing 
Street. 
  
Our main rank observations were in June with the busiest three ranks seeing 
repeat observation in early November testing the impact of the full return of 
students to the City.  
 
Estimates of average weekly passenger demand for 2022 show the dominance 
of the station rank, which provides 63% (up from 49% in 2017) of all 
passengers. St Andrew’s Street provides 22% (28%) with Market Square 4.5 
% (12% 2017). The top two ranks now provide 85% of all passengers – higher 
than the 77% of 2017. Against the trend, the Bridge Street rank had increased 
usage and share, up to 2.9% of the total and marginally busier than Drummer 
Street feeder (2.7%).  
 
Hackney carriage passenger levels at ranks continue to fall – but the impact of 
the pandemic appears marginal in this respect. 2017 flows were 16% down on 
2012 and 2022 a further 22% down. Interestingly the three-rank test in 
November found overall estimated weekly flows down 9% but masking a larger 
reduction at the station and increases for the two central ranks. Thursday and 
Friday flows were lower overall, but central area flows were much higher on 
the Saturday with rail flows even further down (44% down on the 
Saturday)(not the impact of a rail strike). 
 
The main rank survey found demand increasing from Thursday to Friday to 
Saturday but that the difference between the latter two days was relatively 
small (just 12% more). Peak flows were 23:00 Saturday and then midnight 
Friday. The level of 200 passengers per hour was sustained from 22:00 Friday 
to 03:00 Saturday and then from 13:00 Saturday through to 23:00 that day. 
Demand remains non-peaky. 
 
In terms of total vehicle movements, 88% of those observed in the main rank 
activity were hackney carriages. Local private hire were 4% and out-of-town 
vehicles 2%. 3% were private cars but this excludes the abuse out of the main 
survey hours at several locations which would see that proportion increase. 

Page 131



 

 

56 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of rank usage, St Andrew’s Street tends to grow in usage through the 
day with an overnight peak whilst the station tends to drop in usage as train 
service levels reduce. Saturday flows are higher than Friday. Market Square is 
a key provider of night demand with the new Downing Street rank also making 
a clear contribution to night demand. Thursday demand is similar throughout 
the day but lower at night, whilst both Friday and Saturday both rise to 
overnight peaks. However, our view is that demand in Cambridge at this time 
cannot be considered to be ‘peaky’ as there are no significant spikes observed 
in our information. This paragraph is the same as in 2017, which given the 
major changes implied by the pandemic is encouraging.  
  
The proportion of the observed hackney carriages that were WAV was 20% at 
the station but 54% at St Andrews Street and higher at both Market Hill and 
Downing Street, but that may relate to use of the capacity of the larger WAV 
style vehicles rather than need for their WAV capability. Eleven people were 
observed using wheel chairs, six at the Station, three at St Andrews Street and 
one each at Boots and Bridge Street. 
 
Sample fleet activity levels on the Saturday of the main survey identified 51% 
(was 74% in 2017) of the hackney carriage fleet active. St Andrew’s Street 
saw reducing levels of vehicles servicing it as time moved on (from 16% to 
13% to 10%, compared to 23% to 44% in 2017, confirming the thought that 
less people are now servicing later night demand). The station tended to see 
more similar levels of vehicles in each time period, with 15% now compared 
to a range of 30-34% in 2017. This latter statistic partly explains the poorer 
service noted at the station but does not relate to the number of permits, which 
have slightly increased.  
 
An estimate based on the observations suggested perhaps just over 100 
vehicles servicing the station rank of the 170 permits held. These statistics 
showed nearly a third of all plates observed were seen only at the station (up 
from 10% last time), with 45% of plates only seen near St Andrews Street 
(again up from last time). The level of vehicles servicing both ranks was 
strongly reduced suggesting people focussing more on the main rank they 
serviced. 
 
We also found that the bulk of the non-Cambridge vehicles observed in our 
plate observations (near but not at ranks) were South Cambridgeshire (68% 
of the out-of-town), with a small number of potentially Wolverhampton plates. 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 

 

57 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

On street public views 
276 people were interviewed in the streets of the City (as in 2017), but with 
48% (18% last time) near the railway station. The result was 74% said they 
had used a licensed vehicle in the last three months, the same as in 2017. The 
central area and station samples provided similar usage levels.  
 
When using frequency levels, 1.4 (2.4 in 2017) trips per month were made by 
licensed vehicle against 1.2 for hackney carriages (same as in 2017). The 
station figures suggest 62% (83% in 2017) of licensed vehicle trips at the 
station were made by hackney carriage, an encouraging level. For the city 
sample, the proportion by hackney carriage is 85% (was 46%). This compares 
to the quoted level of normal usage from ranks of 47% (37% last time), high 
but less than the frequency based estimate. This still suggests frequency of 
trips is higher, albeit less than in 2017, with those saying they use hackney 
carriages actually making more trips per person. 
 
In terms of companies phoned, responses this time suggest agglomeration and 
successful marketing / service for one company. This increased the share of 
mentions to 59% from the 51% who named one company last time, with that 
level being 80% (was 86%) at the station. Last time the next companies had 
21% and 19%. This time the next highest share was 13% with both the 
companies in second and third last time dropping in share – the 21% company 
fell to fifth and the 19% disappeared. There was a strong reduction in the 
numbers naming three companies and an increase in those just naming one 
company, usually a sign of satisfaction. 
 
People were aware of four active ranks. This time the station got most 
mentions (70%) followed by Drummer Street (three names, but totalling 
15%), St Andrews Street (13%, less that last time), then Market Square. The 
station respondents gave much less to the central area ranks suggesting more 
demand from the station to non-central areas rather than into the city for 
return trips. A lower proportion, 54% said they used ranks they named (was 
73%) but this is still high.   
 
The review of service perception found an excellent score with most reponses 
focussing on service being ‘very good’. As is normal around the country, price 
was the worst performing, with some ‘very poor’ scores but not as serious as 
often might be the case. Top scores are for driver knowledge, state of vehicle 
repair and driver behaviour. These performances are well-worth marketing to 
the public. 
 
 
 

Page 133



 

 

58 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of matters that might encourage people to use hackney carriages or 
use them more, 75% said if they were more affordable. Next mentions only 
scored 6% each, for driver quality improvements and more hackney carriages 
at ranks or to hail. The level of people saying there was nothing to increase 
their usage was very low at just 2%, which is encouraging. 
 
The level of people saying either that they needed a WAV, or knew someone 
who did, was increased from 2017, rising from a net 5% to 15%. Most of those 
needing an adapted vehicle said it would be a full WAV style vehicle but with 
a higher level saying they needed a different adaptation not WAV.  
 
Latent demand values this time focussed on the station, with that value being 
1.0439 (1.02 last time), 1.049 for all ranks (1.07) and 1.0049 for just council 
ranks (1.05). This reflects other values (provided later) showing station levels 
of service have reduced. 
 
89% of the public responding to the question (56%) said they thought there 
were enough hackney carriages in Cambridge at this time.  
 
With reference to COVID people suggested little overall change, perhaps small 
increases for both in the future and a slight reduction of hackney carriage 
between pre-COVID and now. Most people focussed on saying they would use 
both types of vehicle about the same amount. 
 
Key stakeholder views 
As expected, there was very little response with one of the four being very 
positive about the company they regularly used, the police having no concerns 
or complaints and a representative of the disabled tabling concern over vehicle 
types but giving no detail. 
 
Trade views 
A very high 32% of all dual drivers sent letters responded to our invitation – 
excellent for this kind of survey and even exceeding the 22% response from 
2017.  
 
92% of respondents told us the licensed vehicle trade was their only or main 
source of income. One respondent had left the industry and had no intention 
to return, 2% were not working at the time of survey but planned to do so, 
2% were part time with no other income and 3% part time but with other 
sources of income. 
 
78% of respondents were drivers of hackney carriages, 17% both kinds of 
vehicle and 5% only private hire. 

Page 134



 

 

59 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

In terms of alliances, 22% of respondents were with one trade group, 7% with 
another, 6% with a company and 61% without any formal allegiances.  
 
Evidence suggested those responding had increased their years of service, 
which is counter to national trends showing people have retired. However, the 
days and hours worked suggested people were working marginally less hours 
but over fewer days. Vehicle ownership for the current sample was higher and 
60% said they accepted pre-bookings of some format. Evidence also suggested 
the top reason for when people worked was family commitment. 7% said they 
avoided times of awkward customers and 11% avoiding heavy traffic times 
(although this was down from a high 32% last time).  
 
In terms of ranks, St Andrews Street saw 27% and the Station 26%. 6% said 
Market Square, 5% Parkside and 3% Sidney Street (which one not specified).  
 
93% felt there were enough hackney carriages at the present time. Key 
benefits of the limit on vehicle numbers were quoted as preventing over-
ranking and reducing pollution. They also told us it kept the trade viable and 
drivers from working too long hours. 
 
When asked about wheel chair passengers, both in the chair and transferring 
saw higher proportions from bookings and most saying they saw such jobs 
monthly. However, 14% said they got rank wheel chair jobs daily. 
 
With respect to COVID nearly half were aware of people that had left the 
industry as a result. The overall view was less trips from ranks now although 
there was a very wide range of opinion. It was suggested bookings had 
suffered less than rank work. Many told us they had not worked for very long 
periods during the pandemic. Future views were again quite wide and ranged 
from pessimistic to optimistic. Many sought more ranks and some were 
concerned about the extra cost of sustainable vehicles.  
 
Other comments mainly reiterated points already made but also focussed on 
concern over out-of-town vehicles and need for enforcement.  
 
Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 
For this survey, an initial test using all the June data found high and significant 
levels of unmet demand. Both off peak and general delay levels were high, and 
average passenger delay was nearly a minute. However, removing the station 
data brought values to a level of 35 (not significant) and saw average 
passenger delay just 0.22 minutes, and much improved levels of overall 
general incidence of delay.  

 

Page 135



 

 

60 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Synthesis 
Whilst the impacts of the pandemic have changed much of the industry from 
the survey five years ago, there are a lot of matters and general statistics that 
have remained remarkably similar. Overall patronage is reduced, but by not 
much more than in the previous five year period. The appreciation of the fleet 
has increased strongly which is confirmed by the reduction of general rank 
latent demand levels. For all ranks but the station, the overall conclusion 
regarding unmet demand is that it is not significant at this point in time. 

We estimated that 20% of station passengers leave the station in hackney 
carriages from the rank. However, since the last survey various pointers 
suggest the level of service to that rank has worsened significantly. This may 
relate partly to the extra permit not under council control, although on paper 
those numbers have actually increased. However, the plate observations, the 
rank results and the increase in passenger latent demand all demonstrate 
there is an issue with less vehicles overall servicing the station for less time 
than they previously did. 

There are hints that some with disabilities have issues with the kinds of vehicle 
available. This is unusual given the range that exists and the fact that in 
essence on a level playing field every other vehicle should be a WAV style one. 
It suggests need for more in depth research, listening to those with issues, 
and possibly training for drivers that ensures they keep knowledge of how to 
help people with disabilities at the forefront of their minds. The apparent fact 
that wheel chair and assistance-requiring trips are almost certainly a small 
proportion of journeys does not help keep people acquainted with practice. 

10 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Hackney carriage demand survey 
for Cambridge City, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any 
unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent 
which is significant at this point in time in the Cambridge City licensing area. 
The committee is therefore able to retain the current policy limiting vehicle 
numbers, and also retain the limit at its current level. This decision could be 
defended if necessary. 

There is strong value in making known to the public that the survey has found 
that people in general well appreciate the licensed vehicle service that is 
provided. Further, knowledge of ranks does appear to have improved but there 
is always value in ensuring active ranks are clearly promoted in as many ways 
as possible to both the Cambridge population but also to those visiting the 
City. 

Page 136



 

 

61 Hackney carriage demand survey 

 

 

Concerns about service at the station need to be better identified and 
understood possibly by the Council licensing speaking with the trade about 
what they consider the issues might be. It could be that since the survey 
matters have improved as more drivers return to active service but it is 
important to understand quickly real issues and deal with them particularly 
given that most visitors to the City arrive by train and have their view of the 
City informed strongly by their experience of arrival.  

In terms of disability, more work is needed to better match customer and trade 
expectations and delivery. 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

Cambridge City Council Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

This tool helps the Council ensure that we fulfil legal obligations of the Public Sector 

Equality Duty to have due regard to the need to –  

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

Guidance on how to complete this tool can be found on the Cambridge City Council 

intranet. For specific questions on the tool email Kate Yerbury, Equality and Anti-

Poverty Officer at equalities@cambridge.gov.uk or phone 01223 457046.  

Once you have drafted the EqIA please send this to equalities@cambridge.gov.uk 

for checking. For advice on consulting on equality impacts, please contact Graham 

Saint, Strategy Officer, (graham.saint@cambridge.gov.uk or 01223 457044). 

 

1. Title of strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or major change to your service 

Limiting the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicles (HCV)  
 

 

 

2. Webpage link to full details of the strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or major 
change to your service (if available) 

Click here to enter text. 

 

3. What is the objective or purpose of your strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or 
major change to your service? 

 

Cambridge City Council Licenses both Hackney Carriages ( HCV) and private hire 
vehicles (PHV) to operate in the City. HCVs operate from ranks and can be hailed in 
the street and they can also accept pre-booked fares, either direct or from a licensed 
operator. PHVs may only accept pre-booked fares from an operator. However, there 

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-equality-duty
mailto:equalities@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@cambridge.gov.uk
mailto:graham.saint@cambridge.gov.uk


is no power for the Council to limit their numbers, nor to regulate those licensed by 
other Councils and operating in the city. The Transport Act 1985 allows the Council 
to limit the number of HCVs it licenses, but only if it is satisfied that there is no 
significant demand for HCVs which is unmet. 
 
In 1997 Members asked for a report to remove the limitation on the number of 
licences issued. At full Council on 20th July 2000 the decision was made to de-

limit the number of HCV licences issued with effect from 1st July 2001, with the 
continued condition that any new HCV licences issued had to be for wheel chair 
accessible vehicles, but not necessarily a purpose-built HCV. 
 
In 2011 the taxi trade requested that a further survey should be carried out, and a 
demand survey was carried out in 2012 to determine if there were enough HCV, the 
survey also covered disabled accessibility issues. Stake holders included police 
County Council other departments at the City Council, businesses, taxi trade, taxi 
users, public and disability groups. During the 2012 survey there was lack of 
engagement by the trade so further research was conducted in 2014. 
 
At Licensing Committee on 26th January 2015 Members agreed that a limit should 
be set at 321 and this policy should be reviewed after 3 years. 
 
On the 20th March 2017 a report was brought to Licensing Committee recommending 
that Officers procure a company to carry out a further demand survey to establish if 
there is significant demand for the services of HCVs which is unmet.  
 

Following the tendering process, LSVA was appointed to undertake the survey, and 

review accessibility and air quality. The survey results and committee report were 

brought in front of members in January 2018, who unanimously resolved they were 

satisfied that there was no significant demand for hackney carriages in Cambridge 

which was unmet and refused to remove the existing limit of 321.  

 

Following the 2017 survey, the next survey was due to be completed in 2020. This 

did not take place, due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the various lockdowns put in 

place by the UK Government. It was concluded that a demand survey at that time 

would not be a true representation of the demand. 

 

On the 31st January 2022, report was presented to Licensing committee 

recommending officers precure a company to carry out a demand survey to 

establish if there is significant demand for the services of HCVs which is unmet. 

Members unanimously resolved to instruct officers to procure and implement a new 

Hackney Carriage Demand Survey to determine whether there is a significant unmet 

demand in the City, and to bring the results and recommendations to Licensing 

Committee in January 2023. 

 

Page 140



Specification was developed by officers and tender published. The tender selected 

LSVA, who had previously completed the demand survey within Cambridge.  

 

Survey took place in June and November 2022  
 
Survey concluded there was no significant unmet demand for Hackney Carriages, 
however more research needs to be completed in reference to Wheelchair accessible 
vehicle accessibility. Licensing Committee members will be required to decide if they 
are satisfied that there was no significant demand for hackney carriages in Cambridge 
which was unmet. 
 
From the initial assessment of this EQiA further evidence is required around 

ethnicity, age, gender and transgender. Historically this data has not been collected , 

and we will be working to collect the evidence to develop this EQiA with the various 

equality groups.   

 

 

4. Responsible service 

Environmental Services  

5. Who will be affected by this strategy, policy, plan, 
project, contract or major change to your service?  
 
(Please tick all that apply) 

☒ Residents 

☒ Visitors 

☒ Staff 

Please state any specific client group or groups (e.g. City Council tenants, tourists, people 

who work in the city but do not live here): 

Disabled groups 

 

6. What type of strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or 
major change to your service is this? 

☐ New 

☐ Major change 

☒ Minor change 

 

7. Are other departments or partners involved in delivering 
this strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or major 
change to your service? (Please tick) 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

If ‘Yes’ please provide details below:  

Legal  
Corporate Strategy 

Page 141



Disability Groups 
Taxi trade representatives 

 

 
8. Has the report on your strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or major change to 

your service gone to Committee? If so, which one? 
 

Licensing Committee 30 January 2023 

 

 
9. What research methods/ evidence have you used in order to identify equality 

impacts of your strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or major change to your 
service? 
 

As part of the Demand survey, disability  

 

 

 

 
10. Potential impacts  

 
For each category below, please explain if the strategy, policy, plan, project, contract or 
major change to your service could have a positive/ negative impact or no impact. 
Where an impact has been identified, please explain what it is. Consider impacts on 
service users, visitors and staff members separately. 
 

 

 
(a) Age - Please also consider any safeguarding issues for children and adults at 

risk 
 

Click here to enter text. 

 

 

 

 
(b) Disability 

 

Currently half (50%) of the vehicles within the Hackney Carriage Vehicle fleet are 

Wheelchair accessible vehicles.  

Page 142



Within the 2022 survey, the disability groups were consulted, one response was 

received and referenced concern over vehicle types, however did not give detail.  

Public survey also highlighted that the need for adapted vehicles appears to have 

grown since the last survey, with a focus on WAV style vehicles.  

Survey also highlights more in depth research, listening to those with issues, and 

possibly training for drivers that ensures they keep knowledge of how to help people 

with disabilities at the forefront of their minds. 

Currently the council is looking into this.  

 

 

 

 
(c) Gender reassignment 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 

 
(d) Marriage and civil partnership 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 

 
(e) Pregnancy and maternity 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 

Page 143



 
(f) Race – Note that the protected characteristic ‘race’ refers to a group of people 

defined by their race, colour, and nationality (including citizenship) ethnic or 
national origins. 
 

Not applicable  

 

 
(g) Religion or belief 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 
(h) Sex 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 

 
(i) Sexual orientation 

 

Not applicable  

 

 

 

 
(j) Other factors that may lead to inequality – in particular, please consider the 

impact of any changes on: 

 Low-income groups or those experiencing the impacts of poverty 

 Groups who have more than on protected characteristic that taken 
together create overlapping and interdependent systems of 
discrimination or disadvantage. (Here you are being asked to consider 
intersectionality, and for more information see: 
https://media.ed.ac.uk/media/1_l59kt25q).  

None identified  

 

 

 

Page 144

https://media.ed.ac.uk/media/1_l59kt25q


 

 
11. Action plan – New equality impacts will be identified in different stages 

throughout the planning and implementation stages of changes to your strategy, 
policy, plan, project, contract or major change to your service. How will you 
monitor these going forward? Also, how will you ensure that any potential 
negative impacts of the changes will be mitigated? (Please include dates where 
possible for when you will update this EqIA accordingly.) 
 

Continued stakeholder engagement, to identify any equality impacts that may arise. EqIA will be 

reviewed every six months.  

 

 

 

 
12. Do you have any additional comments? 

 

Click here to enter text. 

 

 

 

 
13. Sign off 

 

Name and job title of lead officer for this equality impact assessment: Yvonne O’Donnell 

Environmental Health Manager 

Names and job titles of other assessment team members and people consulted: WAnari 

Njiiri EH and Licensing Team Manager Kate Yerbury Equality and Anti Poverty Officer 

Date of EqIA sign off: 17/01/2023 

Date of next review of the equalities impact assessment: 2026 

Date to be published on Cambridge City Council website: 30/01/2023 

 

All EqIAs need to be sent to the Equality and Anti-Poverty Officer at 

equalities@cambridge.gov.uk  

 

Page 145

mailto:equalities@cambridge.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Annual Review of Licensing Fees and Charges 2023-24
	Appendix A - Consultation document shared as part of public consultation.
	Appendix B – Consultation responses
	Appendix C - Summary of Petition
	Appendix D - DraftTable of proposed fees and charges 2023-24 compared to 2022-23
	Licensing

	Appendix E - Table of proposed fees and charges 2023-24 as amended following consultations
	Licensing


	6 To Review the Livery Policy of Hackney Carriage Vehicles
	Appendix A - Summary of Petition

	7 Limiting the Number of Hackney Carriage Licences
	Appendix A - LVSA 2022 Cambridge Demand Survey Report
	Appendix B - EqIA


